SCIENCE DOSSIER



Hexachlorobutadiene - Sources, environmental fate and risk characterisation

Professor André Lecloux

October 2004



October 2004

This publication is the fifth in a series of Science Dossiers providing the scientific community with reliable information on selected issues. If you require more copies, please send an email indicating name and mailing address to <u>eurochlor@cefic.be</u>.

The document is also available as a PDF file on www.eurochlor.org

Science Dossiers published in this series:

- 1. Trichloroacetic acid in the environment (March 2002)
- 2. Chloroform in the environment: Occurrence, sources, sinks and effects (May 2002)
- 3. Dioxins and furans in the environment (January 2003)
- 4. How chlorine in molecules affects biological activity (November 2003)
- 5. Hexachlorobutadiene sources, environmental fate and risk characterisation (October 2004)

Copyright & Reproduction

The copyright in this publication belongs to Euro Chlor. No part of this publication may be stored in a retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopying or recording, or otherwise, without the permission of Euro Chlor. Notwithstanding these limitations, an extract may be freely quoted by authors in other publications subject to the source being acknowledged with inclusion of a suitable credit line or reference to the original publication.

Table of Contents

Foreword1			
Sun	imary	3	
1.	Introduction	5	
2.	Physical-chemical properties of hexachlorobutadiene	5	
3	Fluxes in the environment	7	
. .	1 Possible sources	7	
2	2 ses	7	
	3 Emissions to the environment	,	
	3 3 1 Historical data (before 1985)	8	
	3.3.2 More recent data (from 1988 to 2002)	8	
4.	Occurrence of hexachlorobutadiene in the environment	.11	
4	1 Air	. 11	
4	.2 Water	. 11	
4	.3 Sediment	. 12	
4	.4 Soils	. 14	
4	.5 Biota	. 14	
4	.6 Food	. 15	
4	.7 Waste	. 15	
5.	Behaviour of bexachlorobutadiene in the environment	17	
Е	1 Environmental partitioning and transport	17	
	5.1.1 Modelling	17	
	5.1.2 Monitoring and field data	17	
F	2 Behaviour in air	18	
5	2 Behaviou ir air water	10	
5	Denaviour in vaciment	20	
5	5 Behaviour in scullen	20	
5	6 Behaviour in biota	21	
		. 2 1	
6.	Temporal trends	. 23	
7.	Environmental toxicity	. 25	
7	1 Pelagic organisms	.25	
-	7.1.1 Acute studies	.25	
	7.1.2 Long term studies	.25	
7	.2 Benthic organisms	.26	
7	.3 Predators	.26	
0	Dials of UCDD to the employment and human hard's		
δ.	KISK OT HUBD to the environment and human health	. 29	
9.	Conclusions	. 31	
10	Poforoncoc	22	
10.	1/ 51 51 1 5 5	. 33	



Foreword

The Monitoring & Environmental Chemistry Working group (MECW) is a science group of Euro Chlor, which represents the European chlor-alkali industry. The main objectives of the group are to identify both natural and anthropogenic sources of chlorinated substances, study their fate, gather information on the mechanisms of formation and degradation in the environment and achieve a better knowledge of the persistence of such substances. The MECW often uses external specialists to assist in developing reports that review the state of existing knowledge of the different aspects mentioned. The principal investigator collects information from the scientific literature and available data regarding natural or anthropogenic emissions in the environment, with the objective to cover all the aspects described above.

Dr André Lecloux is Professor in advanced inorganic materials at the University of Liège and is currently a scientific advisor to Euro Chlor. His past roles have been as general manager of R&D for Solvay in Germany (1991-1995) prior to joining Euro Chlor as science director for six and a half years. Between 1996 and 1998 he was seconded to Cefic to start up the endocrine modulator research programme, which has since become a key part of the chemical industry's Long-range Research Initiative. In 1999, Prof. Lecloux was presented with the Golden Award of the Association des Ingénieurs de l'Université de Liège in recognition of his scientific contribution to academia and industry.

Much has been written about hexachlorobutadiene (HCBD) and politicians have subjected it to extensive regulation. Its status is currently being reviewed as to whether or not it should be listed as a Persistent Organic Pollutant. *Hexachlorobutadiene – Sources, environmental fate and risk characterisation* examines how HCBD is created, its characteristics and how it impacts on the environment and human health. One of the main findings is that the substance is indeed toxic and prone to long range transport via air. Despite its bioaccumulating properties, there is no evidence to suggest that it is prone to biomagnification.

Summary

This science dossier examines the sources of HCBD, a substance currently subject to much regulation with its candidature as a possible Persistent Organic Pollutant further putting it in the spotlight. The fate of HCBD concerns the chlor-alkali industry in particular because its primary source is as an unintended by-product in the manufacture of chlorinated hydrocarbons (e.g. perchloroethylene, trichloroethylene and carbon tetrachloride). Currently HCBD is not commercially produced in the United Nations Economic Commission for Europe (UNECE) region. In fact, commercial production has ceased within Europe (Euro Chlor 2000/BUA 1991).

It is estimated that 1% to 3% of HCBD formed in the 1970s was released into the environment during that time. Some was emitted to water in industrial effluent and some to air from stacks.

HCBD is toxic and is likely to bio-accumulate but does not bio-magnify in the food chain. It may persist in air, at least until it comes into contact with OH radicals or is photo-chemically degraded or deposited in water or soil when adsorbed on particulate matter. In water, sediment or soil containing organic matter, HCBD may biodegrade.

There are no known natural sources of the HCBD; WHO, EPA and Environment Canada have concluded that the low levels of HCBD in the environment do not present a danger to human life or health.

1. Introduction

Hexachlorobutadiene has historically been subject to extensive regulation. It has recently come under renewed scrutiny in various regulatory forums as a potential candidate Persistent Organic Pollutant (POP). The aim of this study is to describe the sources, properties and environmental fate of hexachlorobutadiene and any potential risks to the environment or human health.

2. Physical-chemical properties of hexachlorobutadiene

Hexachlorobutadiene (HCBD) has the empirical molecular formula C₄Cl₆ and the structural formula shown in Figure 1. HCBD is a non-flammable, incombustible, clear, colourless, oily liquid at room temperature with a mild turpentine-like odour (HSDB, 2000). The compound is poorly soluble in water, but miscible with ether and ethanol.

Property	Value	Reference		
CAS registry number	87-68-3			
Molecular weight	260.76 g/mol.			
Melting point	-21°C	Montgomery and Welkom, 1990		
Boiling point	215°C	Montgomery and Welkom, 1990		
Density at 20°C	1.55 g/cm ³	HSDB 1993		
Water solubility at 25°C	3.20 mg/l	Gradiski et al., 1975; Mackay et al.,		
		1998		
Water solubility at 20°C	2.55mg/l	Montgomery and Welkom, 1990		
Vapour pressure at 20°C	20 Pa	Pearson and McConnell, 1975;		
		Mackay <i>et al.,</i> 1998		
Henry's law constant	1,044 Pa·m ³ /mol	Shen, 1982; Mackay <i>et al</i> ., 1998		
log K _{oc}	3.67	ATSDR, 1994; Mackay <i>et al</i> ., 1998		
log K _{ow}	4.78	ATSDR, 1994; Mackay <i>et al.</i> , 1998		
Auto-ignition temperature	610°C	IPCS, 1994		

Table 1: Properties of hexachlorobutadiene

The poor solubility in water of HCBD, its high vapour pressure, its high log K_{oc} and log K_{ow} values determine its behaviour and fate in environmental media.

To compare environmental concentrations from various sources and in different media, conversion factors should be used and the following values are recommended (IPCS, 1993): 1 ppbv of hexachlorobutadiene = $10.67 \ \mu g/m^3$ air, and 1 μg of hexachlorobutadiene per m³ air = 0.094 ppbv at 25 °C and 101.3 kPa (760 mm Hg).

Synonyms for HCBD include 1,1,2,3,4,4-hexachloro-1,3-butadiene, hexachloro-1,3-butadiene, perchlorobutadiene and perchloro-1,3-butadiene. Previous common trade names were Dolen-Pur; C-46, UN2279 and GP-40-66:120 (U.S. EPA, 1980 and 1991a).



Figure 1: Structure of HCBD

The substance can be detected and determined quantitatively by gas chromatographic methods. Detection limits are 0.03 μ g/m³ in air, 0.001 μ g/dm³ in water, 0.7 μ g/kg wet weight in soil or sediment and 0.02 μ g/dm³ in blood, (IPCS 1993).

3. Fluxes in the environment

3.1 Possible sources

The primary source of hexachlorobutadiene is inadvertent production as a by-product of the manufacture of chlorinated hydrocarbons such as perchloroethylene, trichloroethylene and carbon tetrachloride, where it occurs in the heavy fractions (US EPA, 1980; Kusz *et al.*, 1984; Yang, 1988; Choudhary, 1995; US EPA, 2002). Several reports (US EPA, 1980; Environment Canada, 2000; VROM, 2002) indicate the possibility of HCBD forming as by-product during the production of vinyl chloride, allyl chloride and epichlorohydrin. This is in fact extremely unlikely due to the relatively reductive conditions existing in these processes. The reports may have resulted from the fact that wastes from all processes carried out at one site are normally combined before being destroyed by incineration or otherwise disposed of.

During the 1970s and 1980s, large amounts of HCBD were been produced as by-product of chlorination processes involving organic compounds. Annual worldwide production of the compound in heavy fractions was estimated to be 10,000 tonnes in 1982 (CCOHS, 2001). Larger quantities of the chemical were reportedly generated in the US as waste by-product from the chlorination of hydrocarbons: about 4,000 tons in 1975 and 14,000 tons in 1982 (US EPA, 1982b; HSDB, 1993). In North America (US and Canada), HCBD has never been manufactured as a commercial product. In the US, small quantities of HCBD were imported - mostly from Germany - as commercial product: about 250 tons/year in the late 1970s and 75 tons/year in 1981 (Howard, 1989; ATSDR, 1994). In the past, HCBD was also imported into Canada for use as a solvent (Environment Canada, 1979), but is no longer imported or used (Environment Canada, 1997c).

According to a recent study (VROM, 2002), there is probably no current commercial production of HCBD in the United Nations Economic Commission for Europe (UNECE) region of 55 member countries. No data are available on production outside the UNECE region. According to Euro Chlor (2002) and BUA (1991) commercial production of HCBD has been virtually eliminated in Europe.

Among production processes leading to formation of HCBD as an unavoidable by-product, it seems that the only remaining significant source in the UNECE region is the low-pressure chlorolysis for combined production of perchloroethylene and tetrachloromethane. The residue obtained from the process is generally destroyed by incineration at 1,200 °C or recycled through high temperature chlorolysis to carbon tetrachloride and perchloroethylene (Markovec and Magee, 1984).

HCBD can also be released from magnesium production plants and from other nonchemical industries (Deutscher and Cathro, 2001; Lenoir *et al.*, 2001), but no information on quantities is available.

There are no known natural sources of HCBD (Environment Canada 2000; US EPA, 2002)

3.2 Uses

The large amounts of HCBD produced as by-product provided an incentive to develop industrial applications. Prior to 1975, the largest use of HCBD was for the recovery of "snift" (chlorine-containing gas in chlorine plants, Gulko, 1972; HSDB, 1993) and as a wash liquor for removing certain volatile organic compounds from gas streams (Verschueren, 1983). HCBD is no longer used for these purposes (IARC, 1979; US EPA, 1982d; ATSDR, 1994).

HCBD was also used as a chemical intermediate in the manufacture of rubber compounds, and in production of chlorofluorocarbons and lubricants (IARC 1979; US EPA, 1980; Verschueren, 1983; Manahan, 1992). Lesser quantities were used as solvent in rubber manufacturing (US EPA, 1982d), as well as for transformer and hydraulic fluids, fluid for

gyroscopes, heat transfer liquid, laboratory reagents, and as a wash liquor for removing C4 and higher hydrocarbons (Hawley, 1981).

It also had widespread application as a fumigant for protecting grapevines against the parasitic insect pest, *Phylloxera*, in the former Soviet Union and to a lesser extent in France, Italy, Greece, Spain and Argentina. Widespread use no longer occurs (IARC, 1979; Howard, 1989; NTP, 1991; IPCS, 1994; ATSDR, 1995).

3.3 Emissions to the environment

3.3.1 Historical data (before 1985)

In the 1970s, formation of HCBD as a by-product was estimated to be equivalent to 1.5% of total perchloroethylene production (Brown *et al.*, 1975), and the fraction of HCBD released to the environment during its industrial life cycle has been estimated to range between 1 and 3% (SRI, 1984). Some of this waste was emitted to the aquatic environment in industrial effluents and to air from stacks.

Using a simple model describing the troposphere, the global annual emission rate was calculated to be 3200 tonnes/year of HCBD based on air sampling data in 1985 (Class & Ballschmiter, 1987). This level of release is most probably linked to the use of HCBD as fumigant in agricultural applications.

Historically, removed lining (ebonite) and graphite electrodes from chlorine electrolysis cells also generated solid waste containing traces of HCBD, which were handled carefully because they also contained traces of mercury.

3.3.2 More recent data (from 1988 to 2002)

Releases of HCBD to the environment can potentially occur *via* unintentional emissions from the production of chlorinated solvents, from current or historical disposal of waste containing HCBD, from magnesium production, or from any remaining commercial uses.

Recent data are available only for Western Europe and North America. Levels of environmental release of HCBD in other countries from the UNECE region or elsewhere are unknown. Since chlorinated solvents are produced in many parts of the world, potential unintentional emissions of HCBD to air and water might still occur in these countries.

In Canada, since the closing of the country's two perchloroethylene plants in 1985 and 1992, there have been no major point sources of HCBD (Environment Canada, 2000). Current Canadian sources are minor but potentially numerous. They include possible releases in landfill leachates and releases during refuse combustion. Based on the monitoring of discharge and effluent streams from organic chemical manufacturing plants in Ontario between 1989 and 1991, a total loading to water was estimated to be 20 g/day (OME, 1992).

The Great Lakes Commission reports HCBD air emissions of 15 pounds in 1997, mainly from manufacture of rubber-based products (GLC, 1997).

Until recently, the most significant point source of HCBD in Canada appeared to be the Cole Drain, which discharges into the St Clair River and includes outfalls from an industrial landfill and a few industrial companies. Loadings from the Cole Drain appear to have decreased from 140 g/day in 1985 (OME, 1991) to 30 g/day in 1995, corresponding to a maximum concentration of 0.9 μ g HCBD/I in the final mixing chamber discharge in 1995. Since 1998, discharge from the Cole Drain has been practically eliminated as a result of remediation activities. The industrial landfill that was the primary source of HCBD in the Cole Drain was completely remediated and decommissioned, and the bed of the Cole Drain itself was remediated and restored in 1998 (Environment Canada, 2000; Sarnia Lambton, 2000).

In the United States, facilities are required to report the pounds per year of HCBD released into the environment both on- and off-site for inclusion in the Toxics Release Inventory (TRI). The on-site quantity is subdivided into air emissions, surface water discharges, underground injections and releases to land. The TRI data are useful in giving a general

idea of release trends; however, they are not exhaustive due to exclusion of releases from smaller industries. The current threshold reporting quantity of 25,000 lbs/yr was adopted in 1990, down from 75,000 lbs/yr in 1988 (TRI, US EPA, 2000a).

Over the period 1988–1998, air emissions constituted most of the on-site releases; surface water discharges initially increased, peaked in 1992–1993, and then decreased significantly through the late 1990s (see Table 2 below, US EPA, 2000b).

More recent data indicates that in 1998 the majority of releases came from the chemical sector (1,300 kg) and from the electrical, gas and sanitary services sectors (460 kg); in 1999 and 2000, total releases to air of 2,635 kg and 1,936 kg, respectively, were reported. The load to the atmosphere, however, does not include all possible releases from every type of industrial facility (ATSDR, 1994).

Some 15,000 tons of HCBD appear to have been produced in 2000 as by-product, but recycled in production processes or treated and destroyed as waste, mainly by incineration on-site or in publicly-owned treatment works. Only 1,835 kg of HCBD was released in waste. In the US, most of the disposal waste from chlorinated hydrocarbon manufacturing processes is incinerated.

	On-Site releases					Total On-
	Air	Surface	Underground	Releases	Off-Site	& Off-site
Year	Emissions	Water	Injection	to Land	Releases	Releases
		Discharges				
1998	2,421	5	0	0	510	2,936
1997	1,415	9	299	0	200	1,923
1996	2,381	256	952	0	310	3,899
1995	3,310	661	434	0	252	4,657
1994	1,410	351	201	0	430	2,392
1993	1,747	1,200	520	0	12	3,479
1992	4,134	1,911	738	0	5	6,788
1991	3,410	681	200	2	4,263	8,556
1990	4,906	715	330	0	45	5,996
1989	4,628	622	330	1	26,343	31,924
1988	2,508	153	220	0	19,640	22,521

Table 2: Environmental Releases (in pounds) of Hexachlorobutadiene in the US, 1988-1998 (Source: US EPA (2000b)

These TRI data for HCBD were reported from eight US states. However, HCBD contamination has been found in remote areas far from obvious physical discharge sources in at least 14 states (Howard, 1989; US EPA, 2000b).

In Europe, from recent surveys by Euro Chlor (Lecloux, 2003; Euro Chlor, 2004) at 76 European chlor-alkali production sites, HCBD emissions to water were reported to have decreased from 100 kg/year in 1997 to 2.4 kg/year in 2002. Emissions to air decreased from 2 kg/year to close to zero over the same period. This represents a reduction of more than 99% compared to 1985. According to the first edition of the EU-EPER database in 2001, there were no emissions of HCBD to air but emissions to water of 25.63 kg from all manufacture of organic chemicals and solvents (EU-EPER, 2004).

In 1990, HCBD emissions in Germany from the use of perchloroethylene as a solvent were estimated to be <0.56 and 620 kg/year to air and water, respectively, and discharges into Rhine and Elbe rivers were estimated at 70 and 150 kg/year, respectively (BUA, 1991).

Historical landfill storage of heavy fractions from the production of chlorinated organic substances can also lead to secondary HCBD emissions or leachates. In the UK, for example, environmental contamination with HCBD was recently detected around a disused dump. HCBD was detected in the underlying strata and groundwater and in indoor air in properties close to the site (COT, 2000).

4. Occurrence of hexachlorobutadiene in the environment

4.1 Air

In **Canada** HCBD was detected (detection limit 0.1 μ g/m³) in 153 of 9,231 samples (i.e., less than 2%) of outdoor air from 46 sites across Canada surveyed from 1989 to early 1997. It has not been detected at any of these sites since 1994. The maximum concentration measured was about 4 μ g/m³ in Windsor in 1992. Mean concentrations at each site, calculated by assuming a concentration of one-half the detection limit of 0.1 μ g/m³ in those samples not showing detectable levels of HCBD, ranged from 0.05 to 0.07 μ g/m³; concentrations in remote areas were less than 1 pg/m³ (Dann, 1997; Environment Canada, 2000). HCBD has rarely been detected in recent monitoring programmes in areas far away from former sources.

For the United States, concentration data on HCBD in air have been summarised by the US EPA (1998a). Maximum air levels in off-plant property, at a plant boundary, and within a plant were reported to be 22 ppt, 938 ppt, and 43,000 ppt, respectively (Li *et al.*, 1976). The reported average concentration of HCBD, based on 72 samples from urban and source dominated areas, was 36 ppt (0.38 μ g/m³; Shah and Heyerdahl, 1988; Shah and Singh, 1988). A number of cities had HCBD levels ranging from 2 to 11 ppt (0.02 to 0.12 μ g/m³; Pellizzari, 1978; Singh *et al.*, 1980, 1982). Niagara Falls had higher HCBD levels, with concentrations up to 37 ppt (0.39 μ g/m³) found in ambient air levels and up to 38 ppt (0.41 μ g/m³) found in the basement air of homes near industrial and chemical waste disposal sites (Pellizzari, 1982). HCBD concentrations in ambient air were also measured in monitoring data for the Urban Area Source Program (US EPA, 1994). Concentrations of HCBD were reported at a minimum detection level of 540 μ g/m³ in Columbus, Ohio, and up to 1,000 μ g/m³ in Cincinnati, Ohio, from 1989 to 1991. However, a recent monitoring study at six sampling locations in Columbus, Ohio, failed to detect HCBD in air (Spicer *et al.*, 1996).

Class and Ballschmiter (1987) reported that the troposphere of the Northern Hemisphere contained an average concentration of 0.17 ppt (2 ng/m³) HCBD at 18 locations sampled from 1982 to 1986. The detection limits in this survey were between 0.01 and 0.1 ppt.

In Europe, a recent study by the Swedish EPA (2001) indicates that the HCBD concentration in air varies from 2 to 5 pg/m³ in three locations. These can be regarded as "background levels".

A study of air contaminants in Porto Alegre, Brazil (Grosjean and Rassmussen, 1999) did not find detectable levels of HCBD (detection limit 100 ppt) at any of 46 sampling locations.

4.2 Water

The highest reported concentration of HCBD in Canadian surface waters was 1.3 μ g/l, which was measured in the St. Clair River in 1984 (OME/MDNR, 1991). Levels have decreased substantially (i.e. 500-fold) since 1984, based on a measurement of 0.0027 μ g/l downstream from the Cole Drain in 1994, the highest concentration reported that year. Since 1990, concentrations of HCBD in surface water from southern Ontario have generally been less than 0.001 μ g/l (L'Italien, 1996; Environment Canada, 2000). A maximum concentration of 24 mg/kg dry weight was measured in suspended sediments from the St. Clair River in 1985 (Oliver and Kaiser, 1986). In 1989, the highest level detected was 0.01 mg/kg dry weight (Chan, 1993). In the Great Lakes area of Canada, much lower levels of HCBD, around 1 ng/litre, were measured.

In the United States, HCBD has been detected in surface waters at a very low percentage of the ATSDR monitoring sites. However, releases have been reported through the TRI, and HCBD has also been detected in public water system samples, but occurrence estimates are low with only 0.13% and 0.05% of all samples containing HCBD in two different studies. Significantly, the values for the median and 99th percentile concentrations

of all samples are less than the lowest requested reporting level. For samples containing HCBD, the median concentration at various locations varies in the range 0.25-0.30 μ g/l, while the 99th percentile concentration is in the range of 1.5-10 μ g/l (US EPA, 2002).

In Europe, a study of HCBD in 108 samples of seawater collected in 1983 and 1984 from the Dutch coast of the North Sea reported an average HCBD concentration of 0.28 ng/l (Van de Meent *et al.*, 1986). A survey of Liverpool Bay carried out by Pearson and McConnell (1975) reported average concentrations of 4 ng/l with maximum levels of 30 ng/l. Studies of HCBD concentrations in German rivers in 1984 and 1985 reported that surface waters of the Rivers Rhine and Elbe contained 10 to 20 and 10 to 150 ng/l, respectively (IUCLID, 1994), while Goldbach *et al.*, (1976) reported that levels of HCBD near the mouth of the river IJssel in The Netherlands were about 130 ng/l.

A statistical analysis (Govaerts *et al.*, 2000 and 2004) of the monitoring data of the EU COMMPS database (1998), which contains more than 10,000 measured HCBD concentrations from rivers of six European countries (B, D, E, GR, UK, NL) over the period 1994-1997, shows a mean value and 90th percentile of the concentration distribution of 6 and 12 ng/l, respectively. The distribution of the measured concentrations is illustrated in Figure 2 below. It is of particular interest that only 13% of the measured values are above detection limit. The values under the detection limit (DL) have been replaced by DL/2.



Figure 2: Distribution of HCBD concentrations in European surface waters in μ g/l. Data below the detection limit (DL) have been replaced by DL (dotted line) or DL/2 (solid line), with the mean values represented by vertical lines.

Between 1993 and 1996, concentrations reported in estuaries (WRc, 1998 and EU COMMPS database, 1998) varied from 0.4 to 90 ng/l, with typical values in the range of 1 to 5 ng/l.

In a study (Meharg *et al.*, 1998) on the Humber catchments in the UK in 1995-1996, only one sample of water out of 280 samples analysed for HCBD was above the limit of detection of 0.04 ng/l. The author concluded that HCBD "does not constitute an environmental problem to the southern Humber rivers".

HCBD has not been detected in drinking water (detection limits ranging from 0.7 pg/l to 5 μ g/l) in most provincial monitoring programs in Canada. It was detected (detection limit 1 ng/l) in only five out of 2,994 samples of treated drinking water from 143 sites across Ontario surveyed in 1991–1995; the maximum concentration measured was 6 ng/l (OMEE, 1996).

4.3 Sediment

In Canada, the greatest contamination by HCBD in sediment reportedly occurred in a few "hot spots". In the St Clair River, Ontario, the HCBD concentration prior to 1986 was 430 mg/kg dry weight. In 1985, HCBD was also detected (detection limit not specified) in 59 of 65 sampling sites in the same area, with the lowest reported concentration being 0.1 μ g/kg dry weight (Oliver and Pugsley, 1986).

The highest concentration measured in recent years (1994) in the same area was 310 mg/kg dry weight, downstream from the Cole Drain. In the top 5 cm of sediment in the St

Clair River in 1994, concentrations of HCBD ranged from <0.001 to 243 mg/kg dry weight, with a geometric mean of 0.640 mg/kg dry weight (Bedard and Petro, 1997). In these samples, the 99th, 95th and 90th percentile values were 194, 60.9 and 18.7 mg/kg dry weight, respectively, while the median was 0.9 mg/kg dry weight. Bottom sediment levels here were reported to be up to 0.120 mg/kg dry weight. Older sediment layers from around 1960 contained higher concentrations (up to 0.550 mg/kg wet weight). The sediment concentration was demonstrated to increase with particle size in the sediment. In 1994, HCBD was detected (detection limit 1 μ g/kg dry weight) in 148 of 153 samples (Farara and Burt, 1997).

In the United States, as reported by the US EPA (1999b), HCBD was not detectable in any of 196 sediment samples, based on a detection limit of 0.5 mg/kg for the analyses (Staples *et al.*, 1985). Sediments from the Niagara River contained 2.9 to 11 μ g/kg HCBD (Oliver and Bourbonniere, 1985). Sediments from the Great Lakes were reported to contain levels of HCBD typically ranging from 0.08 to 120 μ g/kg (McConnell *et al.*, 1975).

Several studies have investigated HCBD levels in sediments from sites in Louisiana. HCBD levels ranged from less than 0.05 μ g/kg to 0.40 μ g/kg (Abdelghani *et al.*, 1995). These concentrations were well below the action levels of 4,000 μ g/kg for sediment (US EPA, 1991a). However, several hot spots were identified in Baton Rouge and Lake Charles areas, with measured concentrations ranging from 2 to 82 mg/kg (US EPA, 1992b; Prytula and Pavlostathis, 1996a; Gess and Pavlostathis, 1997; Chen *et al.*, 1999).

In Europe, there have been a number of studies measuring HCBD in sediments. For example, samples collected around Hamburg contained <0.1 to 1.8 μ g HCBD/kg dry weight of sediment while a study conducted from 1980 to 1981 reported levels of 2 to 5 μ g HCBD/kg dry weight in sediment collected from the Rhine (IUCLID, 1994). Pearson and McConell (1975) examined the concentrations of HCBD in marine sediments and while a few samples indicated concentrations above 1 μ g/kg, the majority were below 0.5 μ g/kg.

Levels of HCBD in main estuarine and river sediments in Europe have been reported in the EU COMMPS database over the period 1994-1997. Statistical analysis (Govaerts *et al.*, 2000 and 2004) of about 500 measured concentrations indicated that the mean and the 90th percentile values of HCBD concentrations in sediments in Europe are 1.1 and 4 μ g/kg, respectively. The distribution of concentrations is illustrated in Figure 3. Interestingly, more than 50% of the measured values are below the detection limit (DL), and in the statistical analysis these were replaced by DL/2. Recent measurements from EU COMMPS database indicate that HCBD concentrations in estuarine or coastal sediment vary between < 0.2 and 3 μ g/kg, with typical values close to 1 μ g/kg (EU COMMPS, 1998).

Recent data for suspended solids collected from the Rhine-Meuse river basin indicate HCBD levels ranging from <3.4 to $19 \mu g/kg$ (Hendriks *et al.*, 1998).

Lee *et al.* (2000) analysed surface sediment samples collected from 40 stations along the Kaohsiung coast in southern Taiwan. HCBD was found at a level of a few μ g/kg in the most polluted locations.



Figure 3: Distribution of HCBD concentrations in sediments of European rivers, in □g/kg dry weight. Data below the detection limit (DL) have been replaced by DL (dotted line) or DL/2 (solid line), with the mean values represented by vertical lines.

4.4 Soils

In the only identified relevant survey of soils in Canada, HCBD was neither detected (detection limit 0.05 μ g/g dry weight) in 24 samples of agricultural soils from across the country, nor in six samples from areas that had repeatedly received heavy applications of pesticides (Webber and Wang, 1995).

No data was found on the concentration of HCBD in either soil or dust.

4.5 Biota

In Canada, levels in rainbow trout collected from Lake Ontario in 1981 ranged from 0.06 to 0.3 μ g/kg wet weight (mean 0.2 μ g/kg; Oliver and Niimi, 1983). Levels of up to 10 μ g/kg wet weight were detected in composite samples of coho salmon (*Oncorhynchus kisutch*) collected from the Great Lakes in 1980 (Clark *et al.*, 1984). The maximum concentration of HCBD in caged mussels, *Elliptio complanata*, following three weeks of exposure on the sediment surface near three industrial areas of the St Clair River was 36 μ g/kg wet weight (Kauss & Hamdy, 1985; OME/MDNR, 1991).

Concentrations of HCBD in aquatic organisms, birds and mammals indicate bioaccumulation but not biomagnification. In polluted waters, levels of over 1000 µg/kg wet weight have been measured in several species and 120 mg/kg (lipid base) in one species. Present levels generally remain below 100 µg/kg wet weight away from industrial outflows.

More recently, HCBD has been detected at low levels in lake trout, forage fish and invertebrates from Lake Superior in Canada (Environment Canada, 2000). The levels of HCBD in food web samples of Lake Superior measured in 1998 are given in Table 3 (Muir, 2003a).

HCBD in µg/kg wet weight	Mean value	Standard deviation
Lake trout	0.08	0.11
Smelt	0.10	0.11
Herring	0.08	0.06
Sculpin	1.49	0.80
Diporeia	0.01	0.01
Zooplankton	0.01	0.01
Mysis	0.03	0.03

Table 3: HCBD levels in food web samples of Lake Superior in 1998 (Muir, 2003a)

HCBD has been measured in beluga blubber (Muir, 2003a). Levels vary from 278 μ g/kg of lipid in the St Lawrence River estuary to less than 0.1 μ g/kg lipid in Northern Quebec (East Hudson Bay).

HCBD has also been detected in biota in northern Canada, which may indicate that HCBD is subject to long-range transport. However, levels are low, varying from 0.03 to 0.33 μ g/kg with an average of 0.07 μ g/kg in blubber of ringed seals from the Hudson Strait area of northern Quebec, Ungara Bay and Labrador (Environment Canada, 2000; Muir, 2003a).

In the United States, in Louisiana, tissue concentrations of HCBD were $226.33 \pm 778.40 \mu$ g/kg in fish collected from a contaminated study site and $6.84 \pm 10.41 \mu$ g/kg in fish collected from the corresponding control site. In other studies, fish samples from the Mississippi River were reported to contain HCBD levels ranging from 100 to 4,700 μ g/kg (Laska *et al.*, 1976; Yip, 1976; Yurawecz *et al.*, 1976). HCBD was generally not detected in fish from the Great Lakes (DeVault, 1985; Camanzo *et al.*, 1987), with the exception of trout from Lake Ontario, which were reported to contain 60 to 300 μ g/kg (Oliver & Niimi, 1983). HCBD was not detected in 51 biota samples catalogued in the STORET database (Staples *et al.*, 1985).

The National Study of Chemical Residues in Fish (NSCRF), conducted by EPA's Office of Water, was undertaken to determine the occurrence of selected pollutants in fish from various locations across the United States. Pollutants were measured in bottom-feeding

and game fish at nearly 400 sites between 1986 and 1989 (US EPA 1992a; Kuehl *et al.*, 1994). Targeted sites were chosen near areas with significant industrial, urban, or agricultural activity, including more than 100 sites near pulp and paper mills. Fish species chosen for sampling were those routinely consumed by humans and/or those expected to bioaccumulate organic contaminants. HCBD was detected in fish at 3% of the 362 sites sampled. The mean and standard deviation of HCBD concentrations in fish from all samples at all sites were 0.6 μ g/kg and 8.7 μ g/kg, respectively (Kuehl *et al.*, 1994). Only four sites' concentrations were above 2.5 μ g/kg, all of which were near organic chemical manufacturing plants (US EPA, 1992a)

In Europe, the only information on marine fish was reported by Pearson and McConnell (1975), who analysed fish collected in the Liverpool Bay and Thames Estuary areas for tissue concentrations of HCBD. Of the 15 samples analysed, HCBD was not detected (limit of detection 0.001 ng/kg) in 10 samples and of the remaining 5 samples, the highest tissue level detected was 0.4 μ g/kg.

Hendricks *et al.* (1998) evaluated HCBD levels in zebra mussel (Dreissena polymorpha) and eel (Anguilla anguilla) from approximately 30 locations in the Rhine-Meuse river basin. In zebra mussel, HCBD levels were 0.24 μ g/kg at a background location and ranged from 0.95 to 14 μ g/kg wet weight within the study area. In eel, HCBD levels were found to range from 5 to 55 μ g/kg wet weight within the study area. A recent report on the status of the Rhine river (CIPR, 2002) indicates typical concentrations of HCBD in eel between 1 and 3 μ g/kg wet weight and in roach between 1 and 2 μ g/kg wet weight.

4.6 Food

Food may be contaminated with HCBD *via* environmental sources or by contact with contaminated water during food processing activity (DiNovi, 1997).

Data on levels of HCBD in foodstuffs are limited primarily to older studies. Concentrations of HCBD in beverages, bread, butter, cheese, eggs, fruits, meats, milk, oils and potatoes ranging from non-detectable to 3.7 μ g/kg (grapes) were reported in the United Kingdom (McConnell *et al.*, 1975). In Germany, concentrations of HCBD in chicken, eggs, fish, margarine, meat and milk ranged from non-detectable to 42 μ g/kg (egg yolk; Kotzias *et al.*, 1975).

IARC (1979) reported concentrations of HCBD in food sampled in the United Kingdom of 0.08 μ g/kg in fresh milk, 2 μ g/kg in butter, 0.2 μ g/kg in cooking oil, 0.2 μ g/kg in light ale, 0.8 μ g/kg in tomatoes, and 3.7 μ g/kg in black grapes.

HCBD was not detected in samples of eggs or vegetables and was detected in only 1 of 20 samples of milk produced in the vicinity of organic chemical manufacturing plants in the United States (detection limits 5 or 40 μ g/kg; Yip, 1976). In a survey of human breast milk from five regions in Canada, HCBD was not detected in any of 210 samples analysed (detection limit 1.2 μ g/l; Mes *et al.*, 1986).

In a recent pilot multimedia exposure study, samples of domestic air, tap water, beverages and food from 44 households in the Toronto area were analysed for HCBD. None of the samples contained detectable amounts (Zhu, 1997).

4.7 Waste

Waste streams containing HCBD generated as a by-product of certain chlorinated hydrocarbon production typically contain 33-80% HCBD (US EPA, 2002). These wastes are disposed off by various methods. Over the last decade, disposal practices have shifted from landfill to incineration. Incineration reportedly achieves greater than 99.9% destruction efficiency of HCBD (US EPA, 1982d). Historical dumping sites may contain significant amounts of HCBD, which could potentially act as secondary sources of emissions if not well confined. Improved industrial and waste treatment processes, including better improvements in containment facilities and spill prevention, have resulted in greatly reduced loadings of HCBD in the environment since the early 1980s (Environment Canada, 2000).

5. Behaviour of hexachlorobutadiene in the environment

5.1 Environmental partitioning and transport

5.1.1 Modelling

By applying a simple Mackay level I calculation (Mackay & Patterson, 1990; Pedersen *et al.*, 1994) to HCBD, its ultimate distribution at equilibrium in the environment can be estimated. It appears that 97.8% of HCBD partitions to air, 0.2% to water, 1.0% to soil and 1.0% to sediment.

If a steady-state, fugacity EQC Level III model (DMER and AEL, 1996) is used to estimate the distribution of HCBD in the environment, it shows that HCBD tends to remain in the environmental compartment into which it is released, indicating that equilibrium, as described by the simple model, is very difficult to reach.

If HCBD is emitted into air, more than 98% would stay in the air, about 1% would migrate to soil and less than 1% to water and sediment. If released to soil, about 99% would remain in the soil and about 1% would end up in air. If released to water, about 70% would remain in the water, with about 15% migrating to both air and sediment, and less than 1% to soil. The predicted distributions suggest that little inter-compartmental transport occurs when HCBD is discharged to air or soil. By comparison, disposal to water has the potential for significant transport of HCBD to the air *via* volatilisation and to sediment *via* adsorption on particulate matter.

5.1.2 Monitoring and field data

Transfer across **soil-air boundaries** has, however, been observed in a field study in the former USSR: concentrations of HCBD in air above a vineyard were found to be 0.08 and 0.003 mg/m³ at 1 day and 3 months, respectively, following a spring application of 250 kg/ha. Volatilisation of the compound from light soils was more rapid than from heavy soils (Litvinov & Gorenshtein, 1982).

The value of Henry's constant indicates possible transfer of the compound across **water-air boundaries** leading to a wide distribution, with aerial transport playing a major role (McConnell *et al.*, 1975). In a model experiment, a loss of 25% of HCBD in 28 minutes was recorded when a 20-mg/litre aqueous-methanolic solution was gently stirred at 22°C (Hellmann, 1987a).

Adsorption to sediments and suspended particulates is an important factor in the fate of HCBD in water (US EPA, 1991a) and has been studied in various conditions, including field experiments where HCBD concentrations were measured simultaneously in water and in sediment (Leeuwangh *et al.*, 1975; Laseter *et al.*, 1976; Oliver & Charlton, 1984). These studies show that soil-water partition coefficients can range over 2 to 4 orders of magnitude, assuming equilibrium. The degree of adsorption to soil is highly dependent on the organic matter content and is less pronounced in sandy soils. It can be concluded that the compound does not migrate rapidly in soils and will accumulate in sediment. It should be noted that the micro-particles onto which HCBD is absorbed may themselves migrate to the sub-surface, resulting in facilitated transport.

Several studies indicate the possibility of *atmospheric long-range transport* and transboundary movement of HCBD. Evidence for such transport was provided by Mudroch *et al.* (1992), who found that HCBD was present at concentrations ranging from 0.01 to 0.23 ng/g at various sediment depths in samples taken in 1987 from Great Slave Lake in Northern Canada. Similarly, in the USA, TRI releases were reported in only eight states, but HCBD has been detected in site samples in fourteen states distributed nationwide (ATSDR, 2000). Dispersion of HCBD in the atmosphere has been confirmed by detection of HCBD at locations distant from emission sources (IPCS, 1994).

5.2 Behaviour in air

HCBD is released to air *via* chemical manufacturing and processing and by waste incineration (HSDB, 2000). The high organic carbon partition coefficient (Koc) of HCBD indicates that it could adsorb to airborne particulate matter with a high organic content. However, according to Bidleman (1988), significant adsorption onto particles can occur only if the vapour pressure is below 10⁻² Pa. As the vapour pressure of HCBD is 20 Pa, it will be found in air mainly as a vapour and much less in association with atmospheric particulates.

HCBD absorbs light within the solar spectrum. The extent of mineralisation of the compound adsorbed on silica gel and exposed to oxygen was examined following irradiation with ultraviolet light. After 6 days, 50-90% mineralization to hydrogen chloride and/or chlorine, and carbon dioxide was observed (IPCS, 1994). These experiments indicate that HCBD can undergo quite rapid photolysis when adsorbed on particulate matter.

Experimentally, a half-life of one week was determined when HCBD was exposed to air in flasks outdoors. This relatively short disappearance time is possibly due to heterogeneous reactions on the vessel walls, as suggested by the authors of the report. Hydrogen chloride was found to be the main degradation product after exposure of samples to xenon arc radiations (wavelength > 290 nm; Pearson & McConnell, 1975). However, the authors were using such unrealistically high substrate concentrations (much higher than those present in the real atmosphere) that the degradation became "autocatalytic" due to the formation of Cl atoms.

Like the structurally similar chemical, perchloroethylene, HCBD is expected to react with hydroxyl radicals and to a much lesser extent with ozone *via* addition to double bonds (Atkinson and Carter, 1984; Atkinson, 1987). Estimates of its half-life in air based on photochemical degradation through reactions with hydroxyl radicals range from 60 days (ATSDR, 1994) to three years (Howard *et al.*, 1991). The Atmospheric Oxidation Program of the EPIWIN software suite estimates a half-life of about one year with respect to reaction with OH radicals and about 450 years for reaction with ozone.

By using a steady-state mathematical model for the troposphere and on the basis of gas chromatographic analysis of air samples from sites far away from anthropogenic sources, Class and Ballschmiter (1987) calculated that HCBD would have a tropospheric half-life of 840 days (2.3 years) in the Northern hemisphere and 290 days (0.8 years) in the southern hemisphere, based on a hydroxyl radical rate constant of $2 \square 10^{-14}$ cm³/molecule per second and a hydroxyl radical concentration of $7 \square 10^5$ molecules/cm³ in the north and $17 \square 10^5$ molecules/cm³ in the south. Another mass-balance calculation based on monitoring data suggests that the half-life of atmospheric HCBD is about 1.6 years in the Northern hemisphere (HSDB, 2000).

Fricke *et al.* (1995) estimated a theoretical reaction rate constant between HCBD and OH radicals of $2 \times 10^{-14} \text{ s}^{-1}$. Via a QSAR approach, the estimated half-life in air is 356 days based on 12-hour day light and an OH concentration of $1.5 \square 10^6$ OH/cm³.

Modelling and monitoring data suggest that the release rate of HCBD to the atmosphere in the Northern hemisphere was approximately 3,200 tons/year in 1985 (Class & Ballschmiter, 1987). This was mainly due to the use of HCBD in agricultural applications during that period. Based on the "background" concentrations recently observed in Sweden (Swedish EPA, 2001), the same model indicates that the atmospheric burden has drastically dropped to about 10 ton/yr in 2000. Dispersion of HCBD in the atmosphere has been confirmed by detection of HCBD at locations distant from emission sources (IPCS, 1994).

Whilst these data indicate that HCBD meets the criteria for persistence in air (half-life $\Box 2$ days) used by most regulatory bodies (Environment Canada, 1999; UNEP, 2001), reaction with hydroxyl radicals is likely to be an important removal process and sink for HCBD in the troposphere (HSDB, 2000).

Worst-case calculations were made by UNEP (2000) to determine if HCBD has the potential to contribute to *depletion of stratospheric ozone, ground-level ozone formation or climate change*. The Ozone Depletion Potential (ODP) was calculated to be

0.07 (with CFC11 = 1), the Photochemical Ozone Creation Potential (POCP) was estimated to be 0.01 (with ethylene = 100) and the Global warning Potential (GWP) was calculated to be 0.037 (with CFC11 = 1). These figures imply that HCBD is not likely to contribute significantly to ground-level ozone formation, but it does have the potential to contribute to depletion of stratospheric ozone and to climate change. Some substances currently subject to the Montreal Protocol have ODP values similar to the one calculated for HCBD, however, there is general agreement that at these ODP values, substances should not be automatically subject to control. Other criteria such as quantities emitted have to be part of the decision making.

In conclusion, HCBD persists in air until it reacts with OH radicals, is photochemically degraded or is deposited to water or soil when adsorbed on particulate matter. The main degradation process is the reaction with OH radicals leading to a half-life in air of about one to two years.

5.3 Behaviour in water

HCBD is released to surface- and ground-water via industrial effluents, by leaching from landfills or soil, or by urban runoff (ATSDR, 1994).

HCBD is highly resistant to hydrolysis in the absence of appropriate solvents, although it is readily degraded by ethanolic alkali (Roedig & Bernemann, 1956). The measured hydrolysis rate of HCBD in a 1:1 acetone-water mixture gives a half-life of over 1800 hours (Hermens *et al.*, 1985).

In a review on biodegradation of organic compounds, Van Agteren *et al.* (1998) conclude that HCBD is a recalcitrant substance under aerobic conditions while under anaerobic conditions, reductive dechlorination has been observed. No half-lives are presented. This is in line with the general observation that a higher degree of chlorination will favour anaerobic degradation (Beurkens, 1995).

These results are, however, contradicted by a study of Tabak *et al.* (1981), who found that solutions of 5 to 10 mg HCBD/I completely disappear within seven days of exposure in a flask test with wastewater microbiota under aerobic conditions. Whilst volatilisation losses were found to be minimal, these tests did not give definitive results because their designs could not easily differentiate removal or degradation *via* abiotic processes (e.g., adsorption, hydrolysis) from that *via* biodegradation. These results suggest, however, that HCBD would biodegrade at a slow-to-moderate rate in aqueous environments. A study by Schröder (1987) gives the same indication, because approximately 70% adsorption to sludge and 8% degradation was found to occur within eight days in a pilot low-loaded biological sewage treatment plant.

The half-life of HCBD in water appears to depend on the amount of organic matter in the aqueous media; in natural waters, the half-life is estimated to be 4–52 weeks (Howard *et al.*, 1991). The US EPA (2002) reports a half-life in water of 30 days. On the basis of data for Dutch surface waters, the disappearance time of HCBD is estimated to be 3-30 days in rivers and 30-300 days in lakes and groundwater. In this field experiment, it is not possible to differentiate removal from degradation. However, it seems that turbulence, and therefore increased aerobic biodegradation, volatilisation and adsorption, account for the shorter half-lives in river water (Zoeteman *et al.*, 1980).

Anaerobic degradation of HCBD at 100 mg/litre was not observed in 48 hour batch assays at 37°C using an inoculum from a laboratory digester (Johnson and& Young, 1983), indicating that the degradation is very slow even under anaerobic conditions (Govind *et al.*, 1991).

Calculations with the Syracuse BIOWIN model indicate that HCBD does not biodegrade rapidly (linear and non-linear model): the primary biodegradation takes "weeks" and HCBD is recalcitrant to ultimate biodegradation. Based on the structure of HCBD it can be expected that a dechlorination step is necessary before aerobic biodegradation can occur.

In conclusion, the information available on persistence of HCBD in water is inconsistent. Several data suggest that HCBD may biodegrade in natural waters containing organic

matter, in particular if there is high turbulence. It is not clear if the degradation is aerobic, anaerobic or both. The reported half-lives in water vary from one month to one year. It seems that a reductive dechlorination step is needed before aerobic degradation can occur, but that this step is also relatively slow.

5.4 Behaviour in sediment

Sediments can be considered as a sink for HCBD released to water because the compound is strongly adsorbed onto sediments with high organic content and, according to Environment Canada (2000), is not likely to persist. However, measured values for half-life in sediment are not available.

According to Stupp and Paus (1999), the degradation of polychlorinated organic substances could occur *via* two main mechanisms, aerobic and anaerobic. This is also true for perchlorinated substances such as HCBD. The contaminant can be used directly as energy source by micro-organisms, or be transformed as a co-metabolite in an enzymatic process (Scholz-Muramatsu & Flemming, 1991), leading to more rapid degradation in the presence of organic matter. However, in the study on column experiments packed with river Rhine sediments, Bosma *et al.* (1994) found no biodegradation under aerobic conditions within a period of 3 years. This is explained by stronger adsorption in aerobic conditions and thus lower bioavailability.

However, in the same type of column experiments, removal of HCBD was observed under anaerobic conditions after an acclimation time of four months (Bosma *et al.*, 1994). The main reaction product was 1,2,3,4-tetrachloro-1,3-butadiene (>90%). This substance may be further degraded aerobically. Similarly, sequential reductive dechlorination of HCBD was achieved by a culture enriched from contaminated estuarine sediment under anaerobic conditions (Booker and Pavlostathis, 2000). The predominant HCBD dechlorination products were isomers of tri- and dichloro-1,3-butadiene. Traces of a monochloro-1,3-butadiene isomer were also detected. Extensive dechlorination of HCBD was achieved, the dechlorination rates being enhanced at higher initial HCBD levels (1.5 *versus* 0.4 mg HCBD/l).

A desorption study of HCBD from contaminated sediments (Prytula and Pavlostathis, 1996b) indicated that the extent and rate of desorption was strongly correlated to the organic carbon-based partition coefficient of the contaminants. A significant fraction of the solid-phase contaminant concentration was found to be non-labile and not bioavailable. This leads to long-term persistence of these compounds, including HCBD, in natural contaminated sediments. It appears that desorption could be the rate-determining step in sediment remediation technologies

Naturally occurring micro-organisms mediate the reductive dechlorination of sedimentbound chlorinated organic compounds in laboratory experiments (Prytula, and Pavlostathis, 1996a) However, because of the strong contaminant adsorption, a low level of biotransformation was obtained. On the other hand, microbial reductive dechlorination of the sediment-bound contaminants leads to the long-term release of less chlorinated and more mobile compounds. Addition of bioavailable organic matter during the test resulted in rapid dehalogenation of available contaminant. This is in line with the enhanced degradation rate in water when organic matter is present and with the general observation that the higher the level of chlorination, the higher the probability of anaerobic degradation (Beurkens, 1995).

In conclusion, information available on persistence of HCBD in sediment shows that removal through biodegradation occurs at a slow rate. It is suggested that the first step of HCBD degradation in sediment containing organic matter is reductive biodegradation. A combined anaerobic-aerobic degradation process seems then to occur. The observed persistence is mainly due to strong adsorption to the sediment and reduced bioavailability, desorption being the rate-determining step. This explains the difficulty of defining a half-life.

5.5 Behaviour in soil

HCBD can be released to soil by disposal of industrial waste in landfill operations (ATSDR, 1994). Volatilisation from soil surfaces is thought to be a primary process for loss of HCBD

from soil (Tabak *et al.*, 1981). However, as HCBD readily adsorbs to soil organic particles, volatilisation from highly organic soils is predicted to be low (HSDB, 2000).

The half-life of HCBD in soil depends upon the chemical, physical and biological heterogeneity of the soil and climatic conditions. Environment Canada (2000) reports half-lives in soils of 4-26 weeks referring to a study by Howard *et al.* (1991) on aerobic bio-degradation rates. The US EPA (2002) reports that HCBD readily breaks down in soil.

Howard *et al.* (1991) suggested that HCBD may not biodegrade in anaerobic zones of soil and that evaporation would be a significant transport mechanism from soil surfaces. In a dune infiltration study in the Netherlands (Piet, 1980), HCBD was found to be mobile in sandy soils, with an average residence time of 100 days and little biodegradation.

Fragiadakis *et al.* (1979) examined residues of radio-labelled HCBD in soil–plant systems and observed that 4% of the original radioactivity was bound in non-extractable residues in the top 50 cm of soil after two years, suggesting potential for long-term accumulation. The remaining 96% of the original radioactivity was unaccounted for and was believed to have volatilised.

Soil organic matter content is likely to be an important factor in biodegradation time, since adsorption of HCBD to organic matter will significantly decrease its bioavailability to microorganisms. In the absence of significant biodegradation or other loss processes, persistence of HCBD in soil may allow migration of the compound into groundwater, particularly in sandy soils (US EPA, 1984).

In conclusion, it is difficult to predict a half-life in soil due to the strong adsorption of HCBD. As observed for sediment, the presence of organic matter favours a reductive biodegradation but also reduces bioavailability.

5.6 Behaviour in biota

Considering the low water solubility of 3.2 mg/litre and the high log K_{ow} of 4.78, a strong bio-concentration potential would be expected. Both laboratory and field data support this prediction. In flow-through laboratory tests with algae, crustaceans, molluscs and fish in fresh or marine waters, bio-concentration factors (on a wet weight basis) were between 71 and 17,000. This wide range can be explained in part by species differences in metabolism or differences in exposure concentrations (ATSDR, 1994).

The results also appear to be highly dependent on the exposure period, with a steady state was clearly demonstrated in only one of these tests (Leeuwangh *et al.*, 1975; Pearson & McConnell, 1975; Laseter *et al.*, 1976; Oliver & Niimi, 1983). Oliver & Niimi (1983) exposed rainbow trout (*Salmo gairdnerii*) to aqueous solutions of HCBD at 0.10 and 3.4 ng/litre and found average bio-concentration factors of 5,800 and 17,000, steady states having been reached after 69 and seven days, respectively. Laseter *et al.* (1976) reported, however, that the accumulation of HCBD in mollies (*Poecilia latipinna*) and the largemouth bass (*Micropterus salmoides*), kept for 10 days in water containing concentrations of HCBD (10 to 59 µg/l), although variable, was fairly low with concentrations normally below 50 µg/l. A study by Pearson and McConnell (1975) to measure accumulation of HCBD in plaice (*Pleuronectes platessa*) and dab (*Limanda limanda*) kept for up to three months in water containing HCBD (1.7 µg/l) reported concentration factors of about 500 to 700 for muscle and 7,000 to 10,000 for liver.

The bioaccumulation factors found in plankton, crustaceans, molluscs and fish in surface waters are comparable to those observed in the laboratory: available bioaccumulation factors based on wet weight vary between 33 and 11,700 (Goldbach *et al.*,1976; Laseter *et al.*, 1976).

When oligochaete worms were exposed *via* spiked Lake Ontario sediments to a pore water concentration of 32 ng/litre in a flow-through system, steady state was reached within four to 11 days and the average bioconcentration factor was 29,000, based on dry weight, of which about 8% is lipid (Oliver, 1987).

A seven-day laboratory experiment with green alga (*Oedogonium cardiacum*) showed that the algae accumulated HCBD to a concentration approximately 160-fold greater than that in the surrounding water (Laseter *et al.*, 1976).

HCBD also bio-concentrates in aquatic invertebrates, but to a somewhat lesser degree than in fish, with a maximum reported BCF of 2000 for the mussel, *Mytilus edulis* (Pearson & McConnell, 1975). Contamination of water by HCBD led to uptake of the substance by caged mussels in the St Clair River (Kauss and Hamdy, 1985; OME/MDNR, 1991).

The bioconcentration of HCBD by crayfish (*Procambarus clarki*) was investigated by Laseter *et al.* (1976) using both laboratory and field studies. In the laboratory investigations, with 10 days' exposure at 2 to 4 μ g/l concentrations, mean concentration factors between 12 and 59 were observed. In field studies, crayfish were kept for 17 days in pond water containing 4.6 μ g/l HCBD and the concentration factors varied between 7 and 300.

In a recovery study (Laseter *et al.*, 1976), crayfish kept in non-contaminated water for 12 days were found to have lost about 95% of the HCBD from their tissues. HCBD was eliminated from the tissues of goldfish (*Carassius auratus*) with a half-life of 6.3 days (Leeuwangh *et al.*, 1975). Bioconcentration factors (BCFs) were much greater at higher exposure levels than at lower concentrations, so the rates of detoxification and elimination by fish should be considered as concentration-dependent.

Limited accumulation of HCBD was observed in the fat of rats when they received oral doses of HCBD as part of a mixture of seven chlorinated hydrocarbons for 4 to 12 weeks (each compound was administered at 2 or 4 mg/kg body weight per day). Fat concentrations of up to 8 mg/kg were observed at the higher dose rates (Jacobs *et al.*, 1974). In the investigation carried out by Pearson and McConnel (1975) plaice (*P. platessa*) were fed minced mussels contaminated with HCBD (about 0.002 µg/g) for 88 days. No evidence of bioaccumulation was seen.

HCBD does not appear to bio-accumulate in plants. In a field study with radio-labelled HCBD, no significant degree of accumulation occurred in roots, leaves or stems of potato or carrot plants (Fragiadakis *et al.*, 1979).

Biomagnification, the tendency of a substance to concentrate within a food chain, was not observed for HCBD in laboratory tests or in field experiments (IPCS, 1994). No biomagnification was seen when levels in fish were compared with those in detritus and several invertebrates (Goldbach *et al.*, 1976). Similarly, levels of HCBD in predatory fish such as pike and perch were found to be lower than concentrations in the prey fish (Goldbach *et al.*, 1976). The authors also found no correlation between age and HCBD residues. Based on these findings, they concluded that there is no significant biomagnification at higher trophic levels. This conclusion was confirmed by a trophodynamic analysis in the Lake Ontario ecosystem (Oliver & Niimi, 1988), supported by Pearson and McConnell (1975) and by the measurements made by Muir (2003a) in an aquatic food chain and described in section 4.5.

According to Environment Canada (1983), although HCBD accumulates in the tissues of freshwater aquatic invertebrates and fish, it does not biomagnify within food chains because of its fast depuration rate in fish (Goldbach *et al.*, 1976) and its rapid metabolism and excretion in mammals and fish-eating birds (IPCS, 1994).

Concentrations of HCBD in aquatic organisms, birds and mammals indicate bioaccumulation but no bio-magnification (IPCS 1994; Environment Canada, 2000).

6. Temporal trends

Clear downward trends in atmospheric HCBD concentration can be inferred by comparing the values of 1,200-4,600 pg/m³ observed in 1985 by Class and Ballschmiter (1987) in the Northern hemisphere to the background concentration of 2-5 pg/m³ measured in Sweden in 1999-2000 (Swedish EPA, 2001). There is thus an apparent reduction in atmospheric HCBD concentration of more than 99%, indicating a dramatic decrease in global emissions.

Whilst there are few historical data on HCBD, by combining data published by Durham and Oliver (1983) and Williams *et al.* (2000 and 2001), Bailey successfully described temporal trends in Niagara sediment and suspended solids (see *Figure 4*) during the 20th century. The highest levels are observed between 1960 and 1970.



Figure 4: Concentration of HCBD in Niagara sediments and suspended solids during the 20th century (Bailey, 2003)

According to Muir (2003a), similar trends (see *Fig.5*), but at lower concentrations, have been observed in sediment cores from the western basin of Lake Ontario. This shows maximum HCBD levels in the late 1970s. The historical profile is similar to the PCB one but with concentration levels several hundred times lower (Muir, 2003a).



Figure 5: HCBD concentration in core sediment of Lake Ontario Western Basin (Muir, 2003a)

It seems that there is no data on temporal trends in HCBD concentrations in biota. However, archives of fish and wildlife samples exist in Canada, which could be further analysed if necessary (Muir, 2003b).

7. Environmental toxicity

The purpose of this study is not to discuss in detail the results of all available toxicity tests, but to present an overview of the key ecotoxicological studies as an indication of possible effects of HCBD on the environment, and corresponding threshold levels below which these effects are not likely to appear. This will be based on several review papers (IPCS, 1994; Environment Canada, 2000; US EPA, 2002; Euro Chlor, 2002).

7.1 Pelagic organisms

7.1.1 Acute studies

For *marine fish*, the valid¹ study with *Limanda limanda* gives a 96h LC₅₀ of 0.45 mg/l which is the lowest toxicity value for marine fish (Pearson & McConnell, 1975).

For **freshwater fish** species, three flow-through studies based on measured concentrations are considered to be valid; two of these, on *Pimephales promelas* (Walbridge *et al.*, 1983 and Geiger *et al.*, 1985), gave similar LC_{50} values of 0.1 and 0.09 mg/l, respectively. A study with *Brachydanio rerio* gave an LC_{50} of 0.24 mg/l (Roederer *et al.*, 1989). The other studies produced similar or higher LC_{50} values (Leeuwangh *et al.*, 1975; Euro Chlor, 2002). The lowest acute toxicity value for freshwater fish is 0.09 mg/l (Environment Canada, 2000).

For *marine invertebrates*, the lowest valid acute toxicity value was obtained for *Elminius* modestus with a 48h LC_{50} of 0.87 mg/l (Pearson & McConnell, 1975).

For *freshwater invertebrates*, the lowest acute toxicity is a 96h LC₅₀ to *Asellus aquaticus* of 0.13 mg/l (Leeuwangh *et al.*, 1975; Environment Canada, 2000).

Studies reported with *freshwater algae* (Bringmann & Kuehn, 1977; Knie *et al.*, 1983) are considered as non-valid, but their results are sufficient to indicate that algae are not the most sensitive trophic group for HCBD.

7.1.2 Long term studies

The lowest no observed effect concentration (NOEC) reported (0.003 mg/l, Leeuwangh *et al.*, 1975) was considered not valid for assessing the risk because the biochemical endpoint (liver enzyme activity of C. auratus) represents a response to the substance but not necessarily an adverse effect. The NOEC from an early life stage test with P. promelas (Benoit *et al.*, 1982) is considered valid without restriction and used a flow-through system with analysis of the test solutions.

The 28 day NOEC for hatching and survival of *P. promelas* was 0.0065 mg/l, based on measured concentrations (Benoit *et al.*, 1982). This is the lowest NOEC value for freshwater fish.

HCBD preferentially accumulates in liver of fish (Pearson & McConnell, 1975). Once in the liver, it can be biotransformed into polar metabolites that will reach the kidneys *via* the bile and could become nephrotoxic in fish (Anders and Jakobson, 1985; Yang, 1988; IPCS, 1994).

In most cases, freshwater fish and marine crustaceans are more sensitive than their marine and freshwater counterparts, respectively (Environment Canada, 2000). No chronic toxicity data were identified for aquatic invertebrates.

It is interesting to note that both the Estimated No Effect Value (ENEV) as proposed by Environment Canada (2000) and the Predicted No Effect Concentration (PNEC) as derived

¹ The validity check is based on criteria described in EU-TGD 1996

by Euro Chlor (2002) following the EU Technical Guidance Document approach (EU-TGD, 1996) are exactly the same i.e. 0.13 μ g/l for pelagic organisms. This value is close to the proposed water quality objective of 0.1 μ g/l proposed by CSTEE (1994) and IPCS (1994), using the same set of data.

7.2 Benthic organisms

No acute or chronic toxicity studies on benthic organisms have been identified for HCBD. In the absence of such data, the water-sediment equilibrium partitioning approach is sometimes used, as surrogate, to estimate a level which is likely to be safe to benthic organisms. The principle behind this approach is the observation that sediment organic carbon is the main factor influencing partitioning of non-polar organic compounds into sediments (Di Toro *et al.*, 1991). Considering a mean carbon content of 2% and a Koc value of 10 000 (Euro Chlor, 2002) or 80,000 l/kg (Environment Canada, 2000), a PNEC value of 24 µg/kg dry weight and an Estimated No Effect Value (ENEV) of 210 µg/kg dry weight for benthic organisms, respectively, have been derived. The difference between the two figures depends on the assumed Koc value. However, without experimental data it is not possible to draw any definitive conclusions on the toxicity level of HCBD to benthic organisms.

7.3 Predators

As food can be a significant source of exposure for predators to a substance such as HCBD, with a low water solubility and high lipid solubility, it is important to address the possible adverse effects of HCBD in predatory animals higher up the food chain, feeding on fish, and the corresponding thresholds at which no effect is seen.

For birds, IPCS (1994) reports that the only reliable test is a 90-day study with Japanese quail receiving HCBD in their diet. The study indicated that chick survival was decreased at 10 mg/kg diet, although egg production, the percentage of fertile eggs and hatchable eggs were unaffected by this treatment. No effects were seen at 3 mg/kg body weight, which could then be considered as the no observed adverse effect level (NOAEL) for birds.

For mammals, the main target organs for toxicity of HCBD are the liver and the kidneys.

Environment Canada (2000) concludes that HCBD is moderately *acutely* toxic, with LD50s of 65-116 mg/kg body weight in mice, 200-580 mg/kg body weight in rats and 90 mg/kg body weight in guinea pigs (Murzakaev, 1963; Gulko *et al.*, 1964; Gradiski *et al.*, 1975; Kociba *et al.*, 1977a, 1977b). In the only *short-term* study identified in which animals were exposed to HCBD by inhalation, renal proximal tubular degeneration and adrenal cortical degeneration were noted in rats exposed to 25 ppm (267 mg/m³) HCBD and above for up to 15 days. Renal toxicity was not observed at lower concentrations (5 ppm [53 mg/m³] or 10 ppm [107 mg/m³]; Gage, 1970).

On the basis of subchronic and chronic (two-year) toxicity studies in rats and mice, IPCS (1994) concluded that the NOAEL is 0.2 mg/kg body weight per day. Similarly, Environment Canada (2000) indicates that the No-Observed-Effect Level (NOEL) and the Lowest-Observed-Effect Level (LOEL) for chronic effects on the kidney are considered to be 0.2 and 2.0 mg/kg body weight per day, respectively.

Studies to investigate reproductive effects in rats have reported reduced birth weight and neonatal weight gain but only at doses producing maternal toxicity, i.e. 20 mg/kg body weight. Chronic oral administration of up to 20 mg HCBD/kg-bw per day did not induce histopathological changes in the testes or ovaries or effects on oestrous cycle or sperm parameters in mice or rats (Kociba *et al.*, 1977a; NTP, 1991). No data are available on other mammalian species such as the mink or ferret, which are reported to be more sensitive to reproductive toxicants than the rat or mouse.

Although the results of available studies are not completely consistent, there is some limited evidence that HCBD could be *genotoxic* under certain conditions (Environment Canada, 2000). The results of early standard Ames tests were negative (De Meester *et al.*, 1980; Stott *et al.*, 1981; Haworth *et al.*, 1983; Reichert *et al.*, 1983), but HCBD was observed to induce gene mutations in *Salmonella typhimurium* (Reichert *et al.*, 1984).

Despite the observation of these mutations in *Salmonella*, it has not been firmly established whether the initial step in kidney tumour formation is a result of genetic damage or epigenetic events, possibly in the mitochondria (Stott *et al.*, 1981; Schrenk and Dekant, 1989; Dekant *et al.*, 1990; Henschler and Dekant, 1990).

The limited available results in rodents do not indicate that *neurological* effects or effects on the *immune system* are critical endpoints associated with exposure to HCBD.

In conclusion, on the basis of available data, an oral intake of 0.2 mg/kg body weight per day is considered by Euro Chlor (2002) as the NOAEL for chronic effects in birds and mammals, and an oral intake of 20 mg/kg body weight per day is considered as the NOAEL for reproductive toxicity.

8. Risk of HCBD to the environment and human health

In this section, the outcome of three main studies for assessing the risk of HCBD to the environment and human health are summarised (US EPA 1998a; Environment Canada, 2000; and Euro Chlor, 2002). Interestingly, the results of these three studies are very similar and consistent.

Basically, a risk assessment consists of comparing the no-effect levels for various environmental compartments derived from toxicological data (see section 7) with estimated exposure levels, for example, derived from analytical monitoring programs (see section 4). If the exposure levels are lower than the no-effect levels, the risks are considered to be low or negligible. If the exposure levels exceed the no-effect levels, risk reduction measures may be necessary.

As HCBD has a fairly low water solubility and a relatively high octanol/water partition coefficient, consideration should also be given to potential risks of HCBD *via* bioconcentration in living organisms, which could produce toxic effects in predators, and *via* partition into sediments, which could produce toxicity in sediment-dwelling organisms.

For *pelagic organisms*, the estimated no-effect value (ENEV) proposed by Environment Canada (2000) and the predicted no-effect concentration (PNEC) reported by Euro Chlor are both 130 ng/l. On the basis of more recent monitoring data, typical environmental concentrations in the Northern hemisphere are in the range of 1 to 12 ng/l. This indicates that the levels of HCBD in surface waters are unlikely to pose a risk to organisms living in fresh and marine waters of the Northern hemisphere for which data are available. The risks are even lower for freshwater invertebrates, since they appear to be somewhat less sensitive to HCBD than fish (Environment Canada 2000).

The critical body burden (CBB), which predicts the level of HCBD that can be present within an organism's tissues without causing a toxic effect, is the product of the no observed effect concentration (NOEC) and the bioconcentration factor (BCF) of any specific organism. It has been used by Euro Chlor (2002) to assess the risk of toxicity due to bioconcentration in fish. As reported, BCF values range from 70 to 17,000 l/kg (see section 5.6), the lowest NOEC value for fish is 6.5 μ g/l (see section 7.1), and the calculated CBB varies from 450 to 111,000 μ g/kg wet weight. As concentrations of HCBD measured in fish (see section 4) generally remain well below 100 μ g/kg wet weight, with typical values ranging from 0.01- 5 μ g/kg wet weight, it appears that the actual concentrations of HCBD in fish are well below the critical body burden associated with toxic effects. It is therefore concluded that risks to fish through bioconcentration are unlikely, at least in Northern hemisphere where monitoring data are available (Euro Chlor 2002).

For **benthic organisms**, in the absence of experimental toxicological data, the no-effect level is estimated to be 24 μ g/kg dry weight or 210 μ g/kg dry weight, depending on the Koc value used in the partitioning approach (see section 7.2). The majority of recent available sediment monitoring data on HCBD (see section 4) indicates levels of 0.1 to 10 μ g/kg dry weight. This leads to a safety factor varying between 2.4 and 21, indicating, according to Euro Chlor (2002), that unacceptable risks of HCBD to sediment organisms are unlikely.

It should, however, be pointed out that several highly contaminated sites have been identified in Canada (St Clair River) and in the US (Baton Rouge area) where HCBD concentrations have been reported at between 10 and 300 mg/kg. In these conditions, sensitive benthic organisms could experience adverse effects. Remediation programmes are considered for these "hot spots" (Environment Canada, 2000).

For *fish-eating predators*, whilst there is little evidence for biomagnification of HCBD in the food chain, it is important to assess the risk posed to predators eating fish contaminated with HCBD (Euro Chlor, 2002). One approach is to estimate the daily intake (DI) associated with fish-eating and to compare it with the lowest no-effect level for predatory species (as given in section 7), i.e. 0.2 mg/kg body weight/day for chronic toxicity. The DI was

calculated by multiplying the typical observed concentration in fish (0.01- 5 μ g/kg wet weight) with the feeding rate of predators, estimated at 0.15 and 0.11 kg/kg body weight for the mink and eagle respectively (US EPA, 1992). This leads to a maximum daily intake between 0.55 and 0.75 μ g HCBD/kg body weight per day, several orders of magnitude below the no-effect level for chronic toxicity.

Based on these data, it is concluded that there is little risk of toxicological effects for predatory species eating fish contaminated with HCBD. Overall these data support the conclusion that the risk of bioaccumulation and secondary poisoning for HCBD is low at present concentrations in Northern hemisphere.

For *humans*, a NOAEL of 0.05 mg/kg body weight per day has been derived by IPCS (1994), based on the assumption that a margin of safety of 150 between the estimated NOAEL in humans and the maximum total daily intake is sufficient to protect the general population against the adverse effects of HCBD. This report also concluded, based on a IARC study (1979), that there is limited evidence HCBD carcinogenicity in animals (one study in one rodent strain) and insufficient evidence in humans.

According to Environment Canada (2000), food and possibly air appear to be the major routes of population exposure to HCBD. Based on exposure for the various age groups derived from limited available monitoring data, total daily intakes of HCBD from air, food and drinking water have been estimated at 0.01 to 0.2 μ g/kg body weight per day. This estimated average daily intake from environmental sources is less than a Tolerable Intake² (TI) of 0.34 μ g/kg body weight per day calculated from the NOAEL for humans. Probabilistic estimates of exposure via inhalation of ambient air give an intake for children of 0.09 μ g/kg - bw per day. It is concluded that HCBD is not present in the environment in quantities or under conditions that may constitute a danger to human life or health.

The magnitude of intake from fish consumption when HCBD is present in fish tissue is estimated by US EPA (1998a) to be 0.15 ng/kg/day for adults and 0.24 ng/kg/day for children. The corresponding intakes from drinking water are 8.6 and 30 ng/kg/day, respectively. Intakes by inhalation from ambient air are much higher: they are estimated to be 120 and 630 ng/kg/day for adults and children, respectively. As noted by US EPA (1998a), these estimates may be indicative of the magnitude of HCBD intake from air in urban and source-dominated areas where the chemical is present. It is likely that there would typically be no chronic exposure to HCBD *via* non-fish foods (US EPA, 1998a). The data indicates that most intake of HCBD by the general population occurs *via* inhalation. It should be noted, however, that the concentration data used to estimate respiratory exposure are old and that the releases have been greatly reduced in the meantime.

The Reference Dose (RfD) ³ for HCBD and the dose that corresponds to a lifetime excess cancer risk of 1×10^{-6} is 0.2 µg/kg/day (US EPA, 1998a). Under these conditions, it is concluded that it is unlikely that HCBD will occur with a frequency or at concentrations that are of concern for public health.

² A Tolerable Intake is the level of intake to which it is believed a person may be exposed daily over a lifetime without deleterious effect.

³ The RfD is "an estimate (with uncertainty spanning approximately an order of magnitude) of a daily exposure to the human population (including sensitive subgroups) that is likely to be without appreciable risk of deleterious effects over a lifetime" (U.S. EPA, 1993).

9. Conclusions

The main conclusions that can be drawn from this review are:

- HCBD should be considered as toxic, liable to bio-accumulate and prone to long range transport *via* air. However, concentrations of HCBD in aquatic organisms, birds and mammals indicate bioaccumulation but no biomagnification within the food chain (IPCS 1994; Environment Canada, 2000).
- There are still some doubts about persistence of HCBD in the environment. HCBD persists in *air* until it either reacts with OH radicals, or is photochemically degraded or deposited in water or soil when adsorbed on particulate matter. The main degradation process is the reaction with OH radicals, leading to a half-life in air of about one to two years.
 - On persistence in *water*, there are conflicting results but several data suggest that HCBD may biodegrade in natural waters containing organic matter, in particular if there is high turbulence. It is not clear whether the degradation is aerobic, anaerobic or both. The proposed half-lives in water vary from one month to one year. It seems that an initial reductive dechlorination step is needed before aerobic degradation can occur.
 - Similarly, it is suggested that reductive biodegradation of HCBD may occur in sediment containing organic matter. A combined anaerobic-aerobic degradation pathway is likely. The observed persistence is mainly due to strong adsorption to the sediment and reduced bioavailability. This explains the difficulty of defining a half-life.
 - It is difficult to predict a half-life in *soil* due to the lack of data and strong adsorption of HCBD. As observed for sediment, the presence of organic matter favours a reductive biodegradation but also reduced the bioavailability.
- In the UNECE region, where HCBD is no longer produced commercially and remaining uses are insignificant, there are very limited releases into the environment. HCBD is still an unintentional by-product of the joint manufacture of perchloroethylene and carbon tetrachloride but releases are now well controlled by applying recycling processes and high temperature incineration technology to reduce landfill deposition. In Europe, this has resulted in releases of HCBD to air and water of about 25 kg in 2001, representing a decline of more than 99% compared to 1985. Both modelling and monitoring data indicate a drastic decrease (more than 99%) in Northern hemisphere emission levels over the past 15 years to an estimated 10 tonnes/year. Other sources of HCBD are minor: they include possible releases from old landfill leachates and releases during refuse combustion.
- Although the last AMAP report (2000) did not mention HCBD, it has been detected in Europe and North America in air, water, sediment, soils and biota. As described in section 4, the most recent observed levels are low and indicative of a strong decrease in environmental concentrations. Several heavily contaminated areas have been identified. These should still be considered as "hot spots", but are well managed through local remediation programmes and do not require additional, global regulations. Contaminated solid waste arising from old chlorine electrolysis cells can also be handled by applying existing local or regional regulations.
- Multimedia models show that HCBD tends to remain in the environmental compartment into which it is released. Little inter-compartmental transport occurs when HCBD is discharged to air or soil, but, in contrast, disposal to water has potential for significant transport of HCBD to the air *via* volatilisation and to sediment *via* adsorption on particulate matter. In view of its strong adsorption potential to organic matter, the compound accumulates in sediment and does not migrate rapidly in soils. This is confirmed by monitoring approaches.

The predicted no-effect concentration (PNEC) based on the EU Technical Guidance Document (1996) or the estimated no-effect values (ENEV) calculated according to the Canadian scheme (Environment Canada, 2000), has been determined to be 0.13 μ g/l in water for pelagic organisms. As there is a lack of sediment toxicity data, the equilibrium

partitioning method has been used to estimate the no-effect level for benthic organisms and values of 24 or 210 μ g/kg dry weight in sediment have been calculated depending on the K_{oc} value chosen (10,000 or 80,000 l/kg). In most cases, freshwater fish and marine crustaceans are more sensitive than their marine and freshwater counterparts, respectively. Toxicity data are still missing for sediment-dwelling organisms.

On the basis of available data, an oral intake of 0.2 mg/kg body weight per day is considered as the NOAEL for chronic effects in birds and mammals. This leads to a tolerable intake (TI) of 0.2 µg/kg body weight for top predators, including humans.

- Outside of "hot spot" areas, current levels of HCBD in the Northern hemisphere are unlikely to pose a risk to organisms living in fresh and marine waters or sediments or to fish-eating birds and mammals. This conclusion is based on a comparison of observed environmental concentrations in water, sediment and biota with no-effect concentrations (IPCS, 1994; Environment Canada, 2000; Taylor *et al.*, 2003). As environmental concentrations of HCBD continue to decline, so will any residual risk.
- WHO (1994), US EPA (2002) and Environment Canada (2000) also concluded that HCBD is not present in the environment in quantities or under conditions that may constitute a danger to human life or health, including potential carcinogenic effect.

10. References

Abdelghani, A.A., Y.V. Pramer, T.K. Mandal, 1995. Levels of toxicities of selected inorganic and organic contaminants in a swamp environment. *J. Environ. Sci. Health* Part B: Pest., Food Contam. and Agric. Wastes. B30 (5): 717-731.

AMAP, 2000. Arctic Monitoring and Assessment Programme Assessment Report on Arctic Pollution Issue, CD edition, AMAP Electronic Publication N° 1.

Anders, M.W., Jakobson, I., 1985. Biotransformation of halogenated solvents. International Conference on Organic Solvent Toxicity, Stockholm, Sweden, October 15–17, 1984. *Scand. J. Work Environ. Health* 11 (Suppl. 1): 23–32.

Atkinson, R., 1987. A structure-activity relationship for the estimation of rate constants for the gas-phase reactions of OH radicals with organic compounds. *Int. J. Chem. Kinet.* 19: 799-828 (as cited in HSDB, 2000).

Atkinson, R., Carter, W.P.L., 1984. Kinetics and mechanisms of the gas-phase reaction of ozone with organic compounds under atmospheric conditions. *Chem. Rev.* 84: 437-70 (as cited in HSDB, 2000).

ATSDR, 1994. Toxicological Profile for Hexachlorobutadiene, TP-93/08(135 pp + appendices). Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service.

ATSDR, 1995. ToxFAQ for Hexachlorobutadiene. Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, Atlanta, Georgia, US. Available on the Internet at <u>http://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/tfacts42.html</u> (September 1995).

ATSDR, 2000. Hazardous Substance Release and Health Effects Database. Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, Atlanta, Georgia, US. Available on the Internet at: <u>http://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/hazdat.html</u>. Last modified August 19, 2000.

Bailey R.E., Personal communication.

Bedard, D., Petro, S., 1997. Laboratory sediment bioassay report on Upper St. Clair River sediments in the vicinity of industrial point sources, 1994 & 1995. *St. Clair RiverRemedial Action Plan*, Toronto, Ontario. 76 pp.

Benoit D.A., Puglisi, F.A., Olson, D.L., 1982. A Fathead Minnow Early Life Stage Toxicity Test Method Evaluation and Exposure to Four Organic Chemicals. *Env. Pollut.* (Ser. A) 28, 189-196.

Beurkens, K., 1995. Microbial transformation of chlorinated aromatics in sediments, Ph.D. thesis, Landbouwuniversiteit Wageningen, ISBN 90-5485-3956, Koninklijke Bibliotheek, Den Haag, The Netherlands.

Bidleman, T.F., 1988. Wet and dry deposition of organic compounds is controlled by their vapour-particle partitioning. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 22, 361-367.

Booker R.S., Pavlostathis, S.G., 2000. Microbial reductive dechlorination of hexachloro-1,3-butadiene in a methanogenic enrichment culture. <u>Water Research Volume 34, Issue 18</u>, 4437-4445 (15 December 2000).

Bosma, T.N.P., Cottaar, F.H.M., Posthumus, M.A., Teunis, C.J., van Veldhuizen, A., Schraa, G., Zehnder, A.J.B., 1994. Comparison of reductive dechlorination of hexachloro-1,3-butadiene in Rhine sediment and model systems with hydroxocobalamin. *Environ. Sci. & Technol.* 28, 1124-28.

Bringmann G., Kuehn, R., 1977. Limiting Values for the Damaging Action of Water Pollutants to Bacteria (*Pseudomonas putida*) and Green Algae (*Scenedesmus quadricauda*) in the Cell Multiplication Inhibition Test. Z. Wasser Abwasser Forsch 10, 87-98.

Brown, S.L., Chan, F.Y., Jones, J.L., Liu, D.H., McCaleb, K.E., Mill, T., Sapios, K.N., Schendel, D.E., 1975. Research program on hazard priority ranking of manufactured chemicals (chemicals 1–20). Stanford Research Institute, Menlo Park, California (NSF/RA/E-75/190A.-PB263161).

BUA, 1991. Beratergremium für Umweltrelevante Altstoffe (BUA) Hexachlorbutadien, BUA-Stoffbericht 62, August 1991. Ed. Gesellshaft Deutscher Chemiker, Hirzel Verlag, Stuttgart, Germany.

Camanzo, J., Rice, C.P., Jude, D.J., 1987. Organic priority pollutants in near-shore fish from 14 Lake Michigan tributaries and embayments, 1983. *J. Great Lakes Res.* 13: 296-309 (as cited in ATSDR, 1994).

CCOHS, 2001. Canadian Centre for Occupational Health and Safety, CESARS (Chemical Evaluation Search and Retrieval System) Database, accessible at: <u>http://www.ccohs.ca/products/databases/cesars.html</u>

Chan, C.H., 1993. St. Clair River head and mouth water quality monitoring, 1987–89. Water Pollut. Res. J. Can. 28 (2): 451–471.

Chen, W., Kan, A.T., Fu, G., L.C. Vignona, M.B. Tomson, 1999. Adsorption-desorption behaviors of hydrophobic organic compounds in sediments of Lake Charles, Louisiana, US. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* 18 (8): 1610-1616.

Choudhary, G., 1995. Human health perspectives on environmental exposure to hexachlorobutadiene: a review. *Environ. Carcinogen. Ecotoxicol. Rev.* C13 (2): 179–203.

CIPR, 2002. Commission Internationale pour la Protection du Rhin, Contamination des poissons du Rhin 2000. Rapport N° 124 de la 68^e Assemblée plénière, 2 et 3 juillet 2002 – Luxembourg.

Clark, J.R., DeVault, D., Bowden R.J., Weishaar, J.A., 1984. Contaminant analysis of fillets from Great Lakes coho salmon, 1980. J. *Great Lakes Res.* 10 (1): 38–47.

Class, T., Ballschmiter, K., 1987. Global baseline pollution studies. Freznius Z. Anal Chem 327: 198-204.

COT, 2000. Committee on Toxicology, COT Statement 2000/4 on hexachlorobutadiene. UK Department of Health, Internet site: <u>http://www.advisorybodies.doh.gov.uk/cotnonfood/hcbd.htm</u>

CSTEE 1994. EEC water quality objectives for chemicals dangerous to aquatic environment (List 1); The views of the Scientific Committee on Toxicity, Ecotoxicity and the Environment, DGXI. *Environmental Contamination and Toxicology*, 137, 83-110.

Dann, T., 1997. Summary of hexachlorobutadiene concentrations at Canadian sites. Air Toxics Section, Environmental Technology Service, Environmental Protection Service, Environment Canada.

Dekant, W., Vamvakas, S., Koob, M., Kochlin, A., Kanhai, W., Muller, D., Henschler, D, 1990. A mechanism of haloalkene-induced renal carcinogenesis. *Environ. Health Perspect.* 88: 107–110.

De Meester, C., Mercier, M., Poncelet, F, 1980. Mutagenic activity of butadiene, hexachlorobutadiene, and isoprene. *Ind. Environ. Xenobiotics, Proc. Int. Conf.* pp. 195–203 [cited in ATSDR, 1994].

Di Toro, D.M., Zarba, C.S., Hansen, D.J., Berry, W.J., Swartz, R.C., Cowan, C.E., Pavlou, S.P., Allen, H.E., Thomas, N.A., Paquin, P.R, 1991. Technical basis for establishing sediment quality criteria for nonionic organic chemicals using equilibrium partitioning. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* 10: 1541–1583.

DMER and AEL, 1996. Pathways analysis using fugacity modelling of hexachlorobutadiene for the second Priority Substances List. Report prepared for Chemicals Evaluation Division, Commercial Chemicals Evaluation Branch, Environment Canada, by Don Mackay Environmental Research (DMER), Peterborough, Ontario, and Angus Environmental Limited (AEL), Don Mills, Ontario, Canada (March 1996).

Deutscher, R.L., Cathro, K.J., 2001. Organochlorine formation in magnesium electrowinning cells. *Chemosphere* 43:147-155.

DeVault, D.S., 1985. Contaminants in fish from Great Lakes harbors and tributary mouths. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 14: 578-597.

DiNovi, M., 1997. FDA, Chemistry Review Branch, Office of Premarket Approval. Personal communication with Denis Borum, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Water, Planning and Standards (August 21-22, as cited in U.S. EPA, 1999).

Durham, R.W., Oliver, B.G., 1983. History of Lake Ontario contamination from the Niagara River by sediment radiodating and chlorinated hydrocarbon analysis. J. Great Lakes Res. 9 (2), 160-168.

Environment Canada, 1979. Substances on the list of priority chemicals, 1979. Commercial Chemicals Branch, Ottawa, Ontario (CCB-IN-3-80).

Environment Canada, 1983. Environment Canada Guidelines For Surface Water Quality, Volume 2. Organic Chemical Substances: Hexachlorobutadiene. Inland Directorate Water Quality Branch, Ottawa, Canada. (1983).

Environment Canada, 1997c. Results of the CEPA Section 16 Notice to Industry respecting the second Priority Substances List and di(2-ethylhexyl)phthalate. Use Patterns Section, Commercial Chemicals Evaluation Branch, Hull, Quebec, Canada.

Environment Canada, 1999. Canadian Environmental Protection Act — Priority Substances List supporting document for the environmental assessment of hexachlorobutadiene. Commercial Chemicals Evaluation Branch, Hull, Quebec, Canada.

Environment Canada, 2000. Canadian Environmental Protection Act, 1999, Priority Substances List assessment report on hexachlorobutadiene, Environment Canada, Health Canada, November 2000. Co-published by Health Canada, ISBN 0-662-29297-9, Cat. no. En40-215/58E.

EU COMMPS Database, 1998. Fraunhofer Institute, Umweltchemie und Ökotoxicologie, Report 97/723/3040/DEB/EI prepared for the European Commission DGXI. Proposal for a list of priority substances in the context of the draft water framework directive, COM(97)49FIN (13 August 1998).

EU EPER Database, 2004. Data available on the web site, http://www.eper.cec.eu.int, under hexachlorobutadiene.

Euro Chlor, 2002. Euro Chlor Risk assessment for the marine environment, OSPARCOM region-North Sea, hexachlorobutadiene (March 2002). Available on the web page, http://www.eurochlor.org/chlorine/science/MRA Hexachlorobutadiene.pdf

Euro Chlor, 2004. Emissions data available on the web site www.eurochlor.org.

EU-TGD, 1996. Technical Guidance Documents in support of the Commission Directive 93/67/EEC on Risk Assessment for new notified substances and the Commission Regulation (EC) 94/1488/EEC on risk assessment for existing substances (Parts I, II, III and IV). EC Catalogue numbers CR-48-96-001-EN-C, CR-48-96-002-EN-C, CR-48-96-003-EN-C, CR-48-96-004-EN-C.

Farara, D.G., Burt, A.J, 1997. Assessment of Upper St. Clair River sediments and benthic macroinvertebrate communities, 1994. Report prepared by Beak Consultants Ltd. for the Ontario Ministry of Environment and Energy, Toronto, Ontario, Canada.

Fragiadakis, A., Klein, W., Korte, F., Moza, P.N., Scheunert, I., Vockel, D., Weiss, U., 1979. Behaviour of organohalogen compounds in the plant–soil systems. *Spez. Ber. Kernforschungsanlage Juelich* 45: 144–155.

Fricke, G., Hellhammer, J., Klamt, A., Meerkamp van Embden, J., Rose, M., Sewokow, B., Wittlinger, R., 1995. Indirect photodegradation of chloroorganic compounds via OH radicals in the atmosphere. *Umweltwiss. Schadst.-Forsch.*, 7, 275-279.

Gage, J.C., 1970. The subacute inhalation toxicity of 109 individual chemicals. Br. J. Ind. Med. 27: 1-8.

Geiger, D.L., Northcott, C.E., Call, D.J., Brooke, L.T, 1985. Acute toxicities of organic chemicals to fathead minnows (*Pimephales promelas*), Volume II, pp 51-52. Center for Lake Superior Environmental Studies, University of Wisconsin-Superior, Superior, Wisconsin, US.

Gess, P., Pavlostathis, S.G, 1997. Desorption of chlorinated organic compounds from a contaminated estuarine sediment. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* 16 (8): 1598-1605.

GLC, 1997. Great Lakes Commission 1997 Inventory of Toxic Air Emissions Point, Area, and Mobile Sources. Available at: <u>http://www.glc.org/air/inventory/1997/index.html</u>.

Goldbach, R.W., Van Genderen, H., Leeuwangh, P.L., 1976. Hexachlorobutadiene Residues in Aquatic Fauna From Surface Water Fed by the River Rhine. Sci. Total Environ 6 (1), 31-40; cited in Environment Canada (1983).

Govaerts, B., Beck, B., Lecoutre, E., le Bailly, C., Vanden Eeckaut, P., 2000. From monitoring data to regional distributions: a practical methodology applied to water risk assessment, Discussion paper 0127, Institut de Statistique, Université Catholique de Louvain, Belgium. Available at: http://www.stat.ucl.ac.be/ISpublication/ISdp/dp01/dp0127.pdf

Govaerts, B., Beck, B., Lecoutre, E., le Bailly, C., Vanden Eeckaut, P. 2004. From monitoring data to regional distributions: a practical methodology applied to water risk assessment. *Environmetrics*, 15: 1-19.

Govind, R., Flaherty, P.A., Dobbs, R.A., 1991. Fate and effects of semivolatile organic pollutants during anaerobic digestion of sludge. *Water Res.* 25: 547–556.

Gradiski, D., Duprat, P., Magadur, J.L., E. Fayein, E., 1975. Etude toxicologique experimentale de l'hexachlorobutadiene. *Eur J Toxicol* 8: 180-187.

Grosjean, E. Rassmussen, R.A, 1999. Toxic air contaminants in Porto Alegre, Brazil. *Environ. Sci. Tech.* 33: 1970-1978.

Gulko, A.G., 1972. Distribution and excretion of hexachlorobutadiene. *Aktual. Vop. Gig. Epidemiol.* 58-60. From *Ref. Zh. Biol. Khim.*, 1973. [Chem Abstr.81: 346q].

Gulko, A.G., Zimina, N.I., Shroit, I.G., 1964. Toxicological study of the insecticide, hexachlorobutadiene. *Vopr. Gig. Sanit.Ozdorovl. Vneshn. Sredy, Kishinev. Sb.* [Chem. Abstr. 62: 13757c (1965)].

Hawley, G.G. 1981. Review in The Condensed Chemical Dictionary. 10th Ed. 1981. Van Nostrand Reinhold Co., New York, New York, US.

Haworth, S., Lawlor, T., Mortelmans, K., Speck, W. Zeiger, E, 1983. *Salmonella* mutagenicity test results for 250 chemicals. *Environ. Mutagen.* 5 (Suppl. 1): 3–142.

Hellmann, H., 1987a. Model tests on volatilization of organic trace substances in surface waters. *Fresenius Z Anal Chem*, 328: 475-479.

Hendricks, A.J., Pieters, H., De Boer, J, 1998. Accumulation of metals, polycyclic (halogenated) aromatic hydrocarbons, and biocides in zebra mussel and eel from the Rhine and Meuse Rivers. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* 17 (10): 1885-1898.

Henschler, D., Dekant, W, 1990. Nephrocarcinogenic xenobiotics. *Toxicol. Lett.* 53: 105–110. Hermens, J., Busser, F., Leeuwang, P., Musch, A., 1985. Quantitative correlation studies between the acute lethal toxicity of 15 organic halides to the guppy (*Poecilia reticulata*) and chemical reactivity towards 4-nitrobenzylpyridine. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.*, 9: 219-236.

Howard, P.H., 1989. Handbook of Environmental Fate and Exposure Data for Organic Chemicals, Volume 1: Large Production and Priority Pollutants (574 pp). Lewis Publishers, Inc., Chelsea, Michigan, US.

Howard, P., 1991. Handbook of environmental fate and exposure data for organic chemicals (pp. 360–369). Lewis Publishers, London, UK.

Howard, P., Boethling, R., Jarvis, W., Meylan, W., Michalenko, E, 1991. Handbook of environmental degradation rates. H. Lewis Publishers, Boca Raton, Florida, US.

HSDB, 1993. Hazardous Substances Data Bank (May 13, 1993). National Library of Medicine, National Toxicology Information Program, Bethesda, Maryland.

HSDB, 2000. Hazardous Substances Data Bank: Hexachlorobutadiene. Division of Specialized Information Services, National Library of Medicine (<u>http://toxnet.nlm.nih.gov/</u>, last revised 03/30/2000).

IARC, 1979. International Agency for Research on Cancer monographs on the evaluation of the carcinogenic risk of chemicals to humans. Vol. 20: 179-193, Hexachlorobutadiene. World Health Organization, Lyon, France.

IPCS, 1993. International Programme on Chemical Safety, Health and Safety Guide No. 84 for Hexachlorobutadiene, WHO Library, Geneva, ISBN 92 4 151084.

IPCS, 1994. International Programme on Chemical Safety, Environmental Health Criteria 156, Hexachlorobutadiene. World Health Organization, Geneva, ISBN 92 4 157156 X.

IUCLID Data Sheet on hexachlorobutadiene, 1994.

Jacobs, A., Blangetti, M., Hellmund, E., 1974. Accumulation of chlorinated contaminants of the Rhine in fat tissue of rats. Vom Wasser, 43: 259-274.

Johnson, L.D., Young, J.C., 1983. Inhibition of anaerobic digestion by organic priority pollutants. J. Water Pollut. Control Fed., 55: 1441-1449.

Kauss, P.B., Hamdy, Y.S., 1985. Biological monitoring of organochlorine contaminants in the St. Clair and Detroit rivers using introduced clams (*Elliptio complanatus*). *J.Great Lakes Res.* 11 (3): 247–263.

Knie, J., Haelke, A., Juhnke. I., Schiller W., 1983. Results of studies of chemical substances using four biotests. *Dtsch.Gewaesserkd. Mitt.* 27 (3): 77–79.

Kociba, R.J., Keyes, D.G., Jersey, G.C., Ballard, J.J., Dittenber, D.A., Quast, J.F., Wade, C.E., Humiston, C.G., Schwetz, B.A., 1977a. Results of a two year chronic toxicity study with hexachlorobutadiene in rats. *Am. Ind. Hyg. Assoc. J.* 38: 589–602.

Kociba, R.J., Schwetz, B.A., Keyes, D.G., Jersey, G.C., Ballard, J.J., Dittenber, D.A., Quast, J.F., Wade, C.E., Humiston, C.G., 1977b. Chronic and reproduction studies of hexachlorobutadiene in rats. *Environ. Health Perspect.* 21: 49–53.

Kotzias, D., Klein, W., Korte, F., 1975. Analysis of residues of hexachlorobutadiene in foodstuff and poultry. *Chemosphere* 4: 247–250 (in German).

Kuehl, D.W., Butterworth, B. Marquis, P.J., 1994. A national study of chemical residues in Fish - III, Study results. *Chemosphere* 29 (3): 523-535.

Kusz, P., Andriysiak, A., Pokorska, Z., 1984. Gas chromatographic monitoring of the chlorolysis processes of some by-products of vinyl chloride, allyl chloride and epichlorohydrin production. J. Chromatogr. 286: 287–291.

Laseter, J.L., Bartell, C.K., Laska, A.L., Holmquist, D.G. Condie, D.B., 1976. Ecological study of hexachlorobutadiene (HCBD). US Environmental Protection Agency, Washington, DC, US (EPA-68-01-2689).

Laska, A.L., Bartell, C.K., Laseter, J.L., 1976. Distribution of hexachlorobenzene and hexachlorobutadiene in water, soil, and selected aquatic organisms along the lower Mississippi River, Louisiana. *Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol.* 15: 535-542.

Lecloux, A., 2003. Scientific Activities of Euro Chlor in Monitoring and Assessing Naturally and Man-Made Organohalogens; *Chemosphere* 52, 521-529.

Lee, C-L., Song, H-J., Fang, M-D., 2000. Concentrations of chlorobenzenes, hexachlorobutadiene and heavy metals in surficial sediments of Kaohsiung coast, Taiwan. *Chemosphere* 41, 889-899.

Leeuwangh, P., Bult, H., Schneiders, L., 1975. Toxicity of hexachlorobutadiene in aquatic organisms. Sublethal effects of toxic chemicals on aquatic animals. *Proceedings of the Swedish–Netherlands Symposium* (September 2–5, 1975; 167 pp). Elsevier, Amsterdam, The Netherlands.

Lenoir, D., Wehrmeyer, A., Sidhu, S.S., Taylor, P.H., 2001. Formation and inhibition of chloroaromatic micropollutants formed in incineration processes. *Chemosphere* 43: 107-114.

Li, R.T., Going, J.E., Spigarelli, J.L., 1976. Sampling and analysis of selected toxic substances. Task 1B: Hexachlorobutadiene. NTIS PB-253.941.

L'Italien, S., 1996. Organic contaminants in Lake Ontario in 1992 and 1993: Protocols and data report. Ecosystem Health Division, Environmental Conservation Branch, Ontario Region, Environment Canada, Burlington, Ontario, Canada (EHD/ECD/-OR/96-01/I).

Litvinov, P.I., Gorenshtein, R.S., 1982. Migration of hexachlorobutadiene. Zashch Rast (Moscow) 8: 33-34.

Mackay, D., Patterson, S., 1990. Fugacity models. In: Karcher, W., Devillers, J. (Eds): Practical applications of quantitative activity relations in environmental chemistry and toxicology, 433-460.

Mackay, D., Shiu, W.Y., Ma, K.C., 1998. Illustrated Handbook of Physical-Chemical Properties and Environmental Fate for Organic Chemicals, Volume III: Volatile Organic Chemicals. Lewis Publishers.

Manahan, S., 1992. Fundamentals of environmental chemistry. Lewis Publishers , Boca Raton, Florida, US.

Markovec, L.M. & Magee, R.J., 1984. Identification of major perchloroaromatic compounds in waste products from the production of carbon tetrachloride and tetrachloroethylene. *Analyst*, 109: 497-501.

McConnell, G., Ferguson, D.M., Pearson, C.R, 1975. Chlorinated hydrocarbons and the environment. *Endeavor* 34:13-18.

Meharg, A.A., Wright, J., Osborn, D., 1998. The frequency of Environmental Quality Standard (EQS) exceedance for chlorinated organic pollutants in rivers of the Humber catchments. *The Science of the Total Environment*, 210/211: 219-228.

Mes, J., Davis, D., Turton, D. Sun, W.F, 1986. Levels and trends of chlorinated hydrocarbon contaminants in the breast milk of Canadian women. *Food Addit. Conta.* 3: 313–322.

Montgomery, J.H., Welkom, L.M., 1990. Groundwater chemicals desk reference (334-336). Lewis Publications, Inc, Chelsea, Michigan, US.

Mudroch , A., Allan, R.J., Joshi, S.R., 1992. Geochemistry and organic contaminants in the sediments of Great Slave Lake, Northwest Territories, Canada. *Arctic* 45 (1): 10–19.

Muir, D. 2003a. Environment Canada, unpublished results.

Muir, D. 2003b. Environment Canada, Personal communication.

Murzakaev, F.G., 1963. Data for substantiating maximal permissible concentrations of hexachlorobutadiene and polychlorobutane in water basins. *Gig i Sanit*, 28: 9-14.

NTP (National Toxicology Program), 1991. Toxicity studies of hexachloro-1,3-butadiene in B6C3F1 mice (feed studies). Research Triangle Park, North Carolina, US (NTP TOX 1; NIH Publication No. 91-3120).

Oliver, B.G., 1987. Biouptake of Chlorinated Hydrocarbons from Laboratory Spiked and Field Sediments by Oligochaete Worms. *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, 21, 85-790.

Oliver, B.G., Niimi, A.J., 1983. Bioconcentration of chlorobenzenes from water by rainbow trout: correlations with partition coefficients and environmental residues. *Environ. Sci. Technol.*,17 (5): 287–291.

Oliver, B.G. & Niimi, A.J., 1988. Trophodynamic analysis of polychlorinated biphenyl congeners and other chlorinated hydrocarbons in the Lake Ontario ecosystems. *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, 22: 388-397.

Oliver, B.G. & Charlton, M.N., 1984. Chlorinated organic contaminants on settling particulates in the Niagara River vicinity of Lake Ontario. *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, 18: 903-908.

Oliver, B.G., Bourbonniere, R.A., 1985. No title given. J. Great Lakes Res. 11: 366 (as cited in Choudhary, 1995).

Oliver, B.G., Kaiser, K.L.E., 1986. Chlorinated organics in nearshore waters and tributaries of the St. Clair River. *Water Pollut. Res. J. Can.* 21 (3): 344–350.

Oliver, B.G. Pugsley, C.W., 1986. Chlorinated contaminants in St. Clair River sediments. *Water Pollut. Res. J. Can.* 21 (3): 368–379.

OME (Ontario Ministry of the Environment), 1991. St. Clair River MISA pilot site investigation. Volume II, Part II — Detailed technical findings. Municipal/Industrial Strategy for Abatement (MISA).

OME (Ontario Ministry of the Environment), 1992. Twelve-month monitoring data report Organic Chemical Manufacturing Sector (Period covered: October 1, 1989 to July 31, 1991). Prepared by T.M. Tuszynski, Municipal/Industrial Strategy for Abatement (MISA) Section, Water Resources Branch, Ontario Ministry of the Environment, September 1992 (PIBS 2112, Log 92-2310046).

OMEE (Ontario Ministry of Environment and Energy), 1996. Unpublished data from the Ontario Drinking Water Surveillance Program, provided by John McGrachan, Environmental Monitoring and Reporting Branch, Etobicoke, Ontario, Canada (May 2, 1996).

OME/MDNR (Ontario Ministry of the Environment/Michigan Department of Natural Resources), 1991. The St. Clair River Area of Concern. Environmental conditions and problem definitions: Remedial Action Plan Stage I. Submission to the International Joint Commission (December 20, 1991).

Pearson, C.R., McConnell, G., 1975. Chlorinated C1 and C2 Hydrocarbons in the Marine Environment. *Proc. R. Soc. London Ser. B.*, 189, 305-332.

Pedersen, F., Tyle, H., Niemelä, J.R., Guttmann, B., Lander, L., Wedebrand, A., 1994. Environmental Hazard Classification – Data collection and interpretation guide; TemNord 589.

Pellizari, E.D., 1978. Quantification of chlorinated hydrocarbons in previously collected air samples. EPA-450/3-78-112.

Pellizari, E.D., 1982. Analysis for organic vapor emissions near industrial and chemical waste disposal sites. *Environ. Sci. Tech.* 16: 781-785.

Piet, G.J., Zoeteman, B.C., 1980. Organic water quality changes during sand bank and dune filtration of surface waters in the Netherlands. *J Amer Water Works Assoc* 72: 400-404.

Prytula, M.T., Pavlostathis, S.G., 1996a. Effect of contaminant and organic matter bioavailability on the microbial dehalogenation of sediment-bound chlorobenzenes. *Water Res.* 30 (11): 2669-2680.

Prytula, M.T. Pavlostathis, S.G., 1996b. Extraction of sediment-bound chlorinated organic compounds: implication on fate and hazard assessment. Wat. Sci. Tech. 33: 247-254.

Reichert, D., Neudecker, T., Spengler, U., Henschler, D., 1983. Mutagenicity of dichloroacetylene and its degradation products trichloroacetyl chloride, trichloroacyloyl chloride and hexachlorobutadiene. *Mutat. Res.* 117: 21–29.

Reichert, D., Neudecker, T., Schutz, S., 1984. Mutagenicity of hexachlorobutadiene, perchlorobutenoic acid and perchlorobutenoic acid chloride. *Mutat. Res.* 137: 89–93.

Roederer, G., Brüggemann, F., Schäfer, H., Schöne, K., König, A., Steinhanses, J., 1989. Testung wassergefährdener stoffe als grundlage für wasser-qualitätsstandards. Testbericht, Fraunhofer-Institut für Umweltchemie und Ökotoxikologie, Schmallenberg, Germany, pp. 8-20.

Roedig, A., Bernemann, P., 1956. Data on the highly chlorinated vinylether 1-ethoxy-pentachloro-(1,3)-butadiene from perchlorobutadiene. *Justus Liebigs Ann Chem*, 600: 1-11. Sarnia-Lambton Environmental Association, 2000. 1999 Annual Progress Report (16 pp). Lambton Industrial Society.

Scholz-Muramatsu, H., Flemming, H.-C., 1991. Unter welchen Milieu-Bedingungen rfolgt ein Abbau leichtflüchtiger chlorierter Kohlenwasserstoffe (LCKW)?, *Wasserkalender 1991*, 25. Jahrgang, Hrsg.: R. Wagner, S. 135 – 158.

Schrenk, D., Dekant, W., 1989. Covalent binding of hexachlorobutadiene metabolites to renal and hepatic mitochondrial DNA. *Carcinogenesis* 10: 1139–1141.

Schröder, H.F., 1987. Chlorinated hydrocarbons in biological sewage purification - Fate and difficulties in balancing. *Water Sci. Technol.*, 19: 429-438.

Shah, J.J., Heyerdahl, E.K., 1988. National Ambient VOCs Database Update. Report by Nero and Assoc. Inc., Portland, Oregon, US. to the US Environmental Protection Agency. *Atmos. Sci. Res. Lab.*, Research Triangle Park, North Carolina, US.. EPA600/3-88/010a.

Shah, J.J., Singh, H.B., 1988. Distribution of volatile organic chemicals in outdoor and indoor air. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* 22: 1381-1388.

Shen, T.T., 1982. Air quality assessment for land disposal of industrial wastes. Environ. Management 6: 297-305.

Singh, H.B., Sales, L.J., Smith, A. , 1980. Atmospheric measurements of selected hazardous organic chemicals. Menlo Park, California, US. SRI Inter. Project No. 7774: 6 [as cited in ATSDR, 1994].

Singh, H.B., Sales, L.J., Stiles, R.E., 1982. Distribution of selected gaseous organic mutagens and suspect carcinogens in ambient air. *Environ. Sci. Tech.* 16: 872-880 [as cited in ATSDR, 1994].

Spicer, C.W., Buxton, B., Holdren, M.W., 1996. Variability of hazardous air pollutants in an urban area. *Atmospher. Environ.* 30 (20): 3443-3456.

SRI, 1984. Directory of chemical producers, Western Europe. Stanford Research Institute, Menlo Park, California, US.

Staples, C.A., Werner, A.F., Hoogheem, T.J., 1985. Assessment of priority pollutant concentrations in the United States using Storet databases. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* 4: 131-142.

Stott, W.T., Quast J.F. Watanabe, P.G., 1981. Differentiation of the mechanism of oncogenicity of 1,4-dioxane and 1,3-hexachlorobutadiene in the rat. *Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol.* 60: 287–300.

Stupp, H. D., Paus, L., 1999. Migrationsverhalten organischer rundwasserinhaltsstoffe und Ansätze zur Beurteilung von MNA. *Terra Tech* 5/1999, S. 32-37.

Swedish EPA, 2001. Levels of HCBD, background measurements. Data from the National Environmental Monitoring Programme [Cited in VROM 2002].

Tabak, H.H., Quave, S.A., Mashni, C.E., 1981. Biodegradability studies with organic priority pollutant compounds. *J. Water Pollut. Control Fed.* 53: 1503-1518.

Taylor, K.W., Caux, P.Y., Moore, D.R.J. 2003. An ecological risk assessment of hexachlorobutadiene. *Hum.Ecol.Risk Assess.* 9: 511-525.

TRI, 1992. Toxic Chemical Release Inventory. US Environmental Protection Agency, Bethesda, Maryland, US; National Library of Medicine; National Toxicology Information Program, 1992.

TRI, 1999. National overview of 1997 Toxics release inventory. 1997 Toxics Release Inventory Public Data Release Report. Available at <u>http://www.epa.gov/tri</u> United States Environmental Protection Agency, 1999.

TRI, 2000. TRIS query results. 1998 Toxics Release Inventory Public Data. Available at <u>http://oaspub.epa.gov/enviro/fii_master.fii_retrieve</u>.

Environmental Protection Agency Office of Pollution Prevention and Toxics (2000), Washington, DC, US.

UNECE: Executive Body for the Convention on Long-Range Transboundary Air Pollution, Working Group on Strategies and Review, Thirty-fourth session, Geneva, Switzerland (18-20 September 2002). *Further Assessment of Persistent Organic Pollutants (POPs)*, Report by the Chairman of the Expert Group on POPs, David Stone, Document EB.AIR/WG.5/2002/2.

UNEP, 2000. New Ozone-depleting Substance - Information on Hexachlorobutadiene, Twelfth Meeting of the Parties to the Montreal Protocol on Substances that Deplete the Ozone Layer at Ouagadougou (11-14 December 2000). Document OzL.Pro.12/INF/2 (6 November 2000).

UNEP POPs Convention, 2001.

US EPA, 1980. Ambient Water Quality Criteria for Hexachlorobutadiene. US Environmental Protection Agency, Criteria and Standards Division, Washington, DC, US. EPA 44/5-80-053; PB-81-117640 [as cited in ATSDR, 1994; WHO, 1994; HSDB, 2000].

US EPA, 1982b. US Environmental Protection Agency. Federal Register 47:26992-27008.

US EPA, 1982d. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. Federal Register 47:58029-58030.

US EPA, 1984. Health Effects Assessment for Hexachlorobutadiene. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Emergency and Remedial Response, Office of Solid Waste and Emergency Response, Washington, DC, US. EPA/540/1-86-053.

US EPA, 1991a. Drinking Water Health Advisories: Hexachlorobutadiene. In: *Volatile Organic Compounds* (pp 51-68). US Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Drinking Water, Ann Arbor, Michigan, US. Lewis Publishers.

US EPA, 1992. FLUSH User's manual exposure evaluation division. Office of Pollution Prevention and Toxics, 401 M Street, Washington, DC, US.

US EPA, 1992a. National study of chemical residues in fish: Vol. I and II. US Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Science and Technology, Washington, DC, US. EPA 823-R-92-008a and EPA 823-R-92-008b.

US EPA, 1992b. Initial Submission: Detection of hexachlorobenzene and hexachlorobutadiene in sediment, fish, ducks, freshwater clams, squirrels, and raccoons (12/29/1992). US Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Toxic Substances. Doc. 88-930000010.

US EPA, 1994. A screening analysis of ambient monitoring data for the Urban Area Source Program. US Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Air Quality Planning And Standards. EPA-453/R-94-075.

US EPA 1998a. Draft Ambient Water Quality Criteria for the Protection of Human Health. US Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Water, Washington, DC, US. EPA 822-R-98-004.

US EPA, 1999b. A Review of Contaminant Occurrence in Public Water Systems. US Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Water, Washington, DC, US. EPA/816-R-99/006.

US EPA, 2000a. What is the Toxic Release Inventory? US Environmental Protection Agency. Available on the Internet at: <u>http://www.epa.gov/tri/whatis.htm</u>. Last modified February 28, 2000.

US EPA, 2000b. TRI Explorer: Trends. US Environmental Protection Agency. Available on the Internet at: <u>http://www.epa.gov/triexplorer/trends.htm</u>. Last modified May 5, 2000.

US EPA, 2000c. TRI Explorer: Are Year-to-Year Changes Comparable? US Environmental Protection Agency. Available on the Internet at: <u>http://www.epa.gov/triexplorer/yearsum.htm</u>. Last modified May 5, 2000.

US EPA, 2000d. The Toxic Release Inventory (TRI) and Factors to Consider when Using TRI Data. US Environmental Protection Agency. Available on the internet at: http://www.epa.gov/tri/2002_tri_brochure.pdf.

US EPA, 2002. Health Effects Support Document for Hexachlorobutadiene, External Review Draft (April 2002). EPA 822-R-02-028.

Van Agteren, M., Keuning, S., Jansen, D.B., 1998. Handbook on biodegradation and biological treatment of hazardous organic compounds. Kluwer Academic Publishers.

Van de Meent, D., den Hollander, H. A., Pool, W. J., Vredenbregt, M. J., van Oers, H. A. M., Greef, E., Luijten, J. A., 1986. Organic Micropollutants in Dutch Coastal Waters, *Water Science Technology*, 18: 73-81.

Verschueren K. 1983. Handbook of environmental data on organic chemicals (pp 717-718). Van Nostrand Reinhold Company, New York, New York, US.

VROM, 2002. Hexachlorobutadiene, dossier prepared for Ministry of Housing, Physical Planning and the Environment (VROM) in the framework of the UNECE *Ad-hoc* Expert Group on POPs, edited by Ministry of VROM/DGM (February 2002), Nijmegen, The Netherlands.

Webber, M.D., Wang, C., 1995. Industrial organic compounds in selected Canadian soils. *Can. J. Soil Sci.* 75 (4): 513–524.

Walbridge, C.T., Fiandt, J.T., Phipps, G.L., Holcombe, G.W., 1983. Acute toxicity of ten chlorinated aliphatic hydrocarbons to the fathead minnow (*Pimephales promelas*). Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 12 (6): 661-666.

Williams, D.J., Neilson, M.A.T., Merriman, J., L'Italien, S., Painter, S., Kuntz, K., El-Shaarawi, A.H., 2000. The Niagara River upstream/downstream program 1986/87-1996/97. Concentrations, Loads, Trends. Environmental Conservation Branch/Ontario Region, Ecosystem Health Division, Environment Canada. Report No. EHD/ECB-OR/00-01/I and its appendices.

Williams, D.J., Kuntz, K.W., L'Italien, S., Richardson, V., 2001. Great Lakes Surveillance Program, Organic Contaminants in the Great Lakes, 1992 to1998. Intra- and Inter-lake Spatial Distributions and Temporal Trends. Environmental Conservation Branch/Ontario Region, Ecosystem Health Division, Environment Canada. Report No. EHD/ECB-OR/01-01/I.

WRc, 1998. Collation and evaluation of European monitoring data on mercury and chlorinated organic compounds; report prepared for Euro Chlor. WRc, Medmenham SL7 2HD, UK.

Yang, R.S.H., 1988. Hexachloro-1,3-butadiene: toxicology, metabolism, and mechanisms of toxicity. *Rev. Environ. Contam. Toxicol.* 101: 121–137.

Yip, G., 1976. Survey of hexachloro-1,3,-butadiene in fish, eggs, milk, and vegetables. J. Assoc. Off. Anal. Chem. 59: 559-561.

Yurawecz, M.P., Dreifuss, P.A. Kamps L.R., 1976. Determination of hexachloro-1,3- butadiene in spinach, eggs, fish, and milk by electron capture gas-liquid chromatography. *J.Assoc. Off. Anal. Chem.* 59: 552-558.

Zhu, J., 1997. Hexachlorobutadiene levels in samples collected during multimedia exposure pilot study. Memo to R. Beauchamp, Priority Substances Section, Environmental Health Directorate, Health Canada (April 10, 1997).

Zoeteman, B.C.J., Harmsen, K., Linders, J.B.H.J., 1980. Persistent organic pollutants in river water and groundwater of the Netherlands. *Chemosphere* 9: 231-249.

Euro Chlor

The voice of the European chlorine industry, Euro Chlor plays a key communication and representation role on behalf of its members, listening and responding to society's concerns about the sustainability of chlorine chemistry.

Euro Chlor helps members improve safety standards whilst conducting science, advocacy and communications programmes. The Brussels-based federation was founded in its current form in 1989 and speaks on behalf of 97% of chlorine production in the EU-25 and EFTA regions.

Euro Chlor • Avenue E. Van Nieuwenhuyse 4, box 2 • B-1160 Brussels, Belgium Tel: +32 2 676 72 11 | Fax: +32 2 676 72 41 Email: eurochlor@cefic.be | www.eurochlor.org